

LUND UNIVERSITY

Wealth, Consumption, and Industriousness Evidence from southern Sweden, 1570-1860

Falk, Marcus

2025

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Falk, M. (2025). Wealth, Consumption, and Industriousness: Evidence from southern Sweden, 1570-1860. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Lund University School of Economics and Management, LUSEM]. MediaTryck Lund.

Total number of authors:

Creative Commons License: CC BY

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Wealth, Consumption, and Industriousness Evidence from southern Sweden, 1570-1860

MARCUS FALK LUND STUDIES IN ECONOMIC HISTORY 118 | LUND UNIVERSITY



Wealth, Consumption, and Industriousness

Wealth, Consumption, and Industriousness

Evidence from southern Sweden, 1570-1860

Marcus Falk



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the School of Economics and Management at Lund University to be publicly defended on the 16th of May at 10.15 in EC3:211, Department of Economic History.

Faculty opponent Prof. Craig Muldrew

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: Doctoral Dissertation

Date of issue: 2025-05-16

Author(s): Marcus Falk

Title and subtitle: Wealth, Consumption, and Industriousness: Evidence from southern Sweden, 1570-1860

Abstract:

This dissertation utilizes a new dataset on the belongings of early modern households, gathered from southern Sweden, to map the development of wealth and material living standards over the course of the early modern period. Together, the four papers making up the main part of the dissertation depicts a significantly more economically dynamic early modern period – especially eighteenth century – than have been often assumed. The south-Swedish household, no matter their socio-economic position, greatly improved their material standards over the early modern period; they diversified their stock of household objects and furniture, acquired larger and more varied wardrobes, and greatly expanded their range of cooking and eating options through more cook- and dinnerware. In the towns, the bulk of these improvements are visible for virtually everyone already from the mid-eighteenth century, while their penetration into the countryside proved slower; though clear and significant improvements are visible there as well from the mid-eighteenth century onward, a majority of the rural population would not enjoy most of these improvements before the nineteenth century.

While merchants, as well as most peasants, saw their political and economic position improve over the eighteenth century through the reforms of the Age of Liberty, the quickly growing and proletarianizing group of urban and rural labourers instead faced continuously higher cost of living. In the face of this economic uncertainty rural peasants and labourers alike increased their labour output. They did so mainly through a diversification of household production, mostly proto-industrial textile work, which allowed them to greatly increase the labour intensity of women and children. Apart from simply providing an extra source of income to counteract the increased costs of living, this diversification would also have connected these rural households to urban merchants, and through them wider trade networks through which they could acquire the manufactured goods which made up the backbone of material improvements of the period.

Though not a definite proof, the findings presented in the dissertation give tentative support of the presence of an industrious revolution in early modern Sweden. However, unlike as presented by de Vries in his original theory, this is not an industrious revolution driven by consumer demand for novel colonial goods, such as tea, coffee, and sugar. Instead, the industriousness of the Swedish households appears to have been driven by the interaction between the increased cost of living – necessitating an increased labour output to survive – and a decrease in the cost of the manufactured goods of the consumer revolution, which allowed for a large-scale shift in consumption strategies.

Key words: Economic History, History, Early Modern, Sweden, Europe, Industrious Revolution, Consumption History, Rural History, Urban History

Supplementary bibliographical information

Language: English

Number of pages: 93 pages + 4 papers

ISSN and key title: 1400-4860 Lund Studies in Economic History 118

ISBN: 978-91-989642-0-2 (print); 978-91-989642-1-9 (pdf)

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2025-04-02

Wealth, Consumption, and Industriousness

Evidence from southern Sweden, 1570-1860

Marcus Falk



Lund Studies in Economic History is a series of doctoral dissertations and edited volumes of high scholarly quality in subjects related to the Department of Economic History at the School of Economics and Management, Lund University. All volumes have been reviewed and approved prior to publication.

Coverphoto, *Nysterska* by Pehr Hilleström d.ä. Photo by Nationalmuseum, used under ShareAlike 4.0 copyright, <u>CC BY-SA 4.0</u> Copyright pp i-81 Marcus Falk

Paper 1 © Rural History Paper 2 © Social Science History Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 4 © by the Author (Manuscript unpublished)

School of Economics and Management Department of Economic History

ISBN 978-91-989642-0-2 (print) ISBN 978-91-989642-1-9 (pdf) ISSN 1400-4860

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

To Peder, for a lifetime of encouragement

Table of Contents

	X				
Acknowledgement	xi				
1. Introduction	1				
1.1. Motivations and aims	1				
1.2. Research questions	4				
1.3. Contribution					
1.3.1. Contributions to Data					
1.3.2. Contributions to literature and debates					
1.4. Limitations	10				
2. Historical Context: Early modern production and consumption	11				
2.1 The early modern agrarian economy	11				
2.2 Pluriactivity and early modern labour	16				
2.3 Historical consumption and development of consumer markets	19				
3. Theoretical Framework: Industriousness and the impact of early					
modern markets	23				
3.1 The Industrious Revolution	23				
3.2. Markets and market development	26				
4. Data	29				
4.1. Probate inventories	29				
4.1.1. Complementary data					
4.1.2. Probate records from before 1734					
4.2. Sound toll Registers	43				
5. Methodology	45				
5.1 The rural sample					
5.2 The urban sample					
5.3 Periodization and sample size					
5.4 Probate inventory sampling method					
6. Summaries of the papers	57				

cussion, conclusion, and future work 7.1. The question of a Swedish "industrious revolution" 7.2. Future work ences Archival sources	
7.1. The question of a Swedish "industrious revolution"	65
7.2. Future work	68
References	69
Archival sources	69
Digital Databases	70
Unprinted sources	70
Printed Sources	70
Bibliography	70

List of papers

- I. Wealth, work, and industriousness, 1670-1860: Evidence from rural Swedish probates.
 Falk, Marcus, Erik Bengtsson, & Mats Olsson Published in Rural History.
- II. Consumption and Living Standards in Early Modern Rural Households: Probate Evidence from Southern Sweden, c. 1680-1860
 Falk, Marcus Published in Social Science History.
- III. Living standards and inequality in three south Swedish cities, c. 1670–1865
 Falk, Marcus, Erik Bengtsson, & Mats Olsson
 Unpublished manuscript.
- IV. Goods to rural markets: the effect of markets on household access to goods in southern Sweden during the late eighteenth century
 Falk, Marcus
 Unpublished manuscript. To be published in the book The Consuming Countryside, Bural Material Living Standards, Consumption Patterns, and

Countryside. Rural Material Living Standards, Consumption Patterns, and Economic Growth, 17th – 19th centuries, *by Brepols Publishers*.

Acknowledgement

This dissertation is about how pre-industrial people created more physically comfortable lives for themselves; about the new goods they acquired, the consumer habits they adopted, and how even the poor proletarianized workers – despite constantly decreasing wages and increasing costs of living – managed to consume their way to a more comfortable physical surrounding. While of course there are a plethora of large-scale shifts in social and economic structures leading up to the industrial revolution that can be used to explain this, the very short answer is that they did not do it alone. Only by massive cooperative undertakings, both on a societal level and within the individual household, could these material improvements be achieved; by people working together, helping each other, and complementing each other.

It might be a bit cliché of me, but writing a dissertation has been similar in so far as I could never have done it by myself. While my name alone might grace the cover of this book, in no way could it have been made without the help and support from my supervisors, my colleagues, a full support structure of friends and family outside of academia, and all the other amazing historians in the field that I have had the pleasure and privilege to read and meet during these past five years. Nothing could have prepared me, starting the PhD, for just how many fantastic people from all across the world I would get the chance to meet along the way. Neither could it prepare me for how many opportunities for being part of, and contributing to, the greater academic community I would be given.

I want to extend an especially heartfelt thank you to my two supervisors, Erik Bengtsson and Mats Olsson for your invaluable help and guidance. This dissertation would not be even close to what it is without your assistance, support, and experience. I am sure that it is not exactly what you had in mind when you submitted the research proposal that became my PhD-position, but I appreciate the opportunity to take this project and make it my own. And that you supported me whole-heartedly every step of the way, no matter how ill-advised those steps might have been. I also want to thank Anders Larsson, for your invaluable work as research assistant helping me sample literally thousands of probate records over the course of the project. That this dissertation includes two accepted papers is a testament to the value of all your support and work, as I could never have achieved that only by myself.

These past almost five years have been some of the best of my life, and that is in no small part due to my amazing colleagues at the economic history department. Uprooting oneself and moving city is difficult in the best of times; doing so in the middle of a raging global pandemic, as was the case in the autumn of 2020 when I started the PhD, is certainly not doing so in the best of times. You all helped make the transition so much easier, made a poor new graduate student who had never set

their foot in Lund before feel welcome and like they belonged here, and have given me friends for life. I will not take up space here to name all of you individually, but I trust that you know who you are, and know that I am extremely grateful and very happy to have met all of you.

Finally, I want to take some space to extend an extra special, very heartfelt thank you to my main supervisor Erik. You, more than anyone else, have had to endure my ignorance and naivety these past few years, and you have patiently guided me through this entire process. I apologise for the, surely, no small source of frustration my complete lack of prior knowledge about anything regarding the field of economics must have proved to you. I started this PhD a cultural historian, my only real qualification for the project an ability to fluently read eighteenth-century German fraktur handwriting; with my head filled with post-modern frameworks and methods of analysis. While I do graduate as an economic historian, I must admit that I still remain a cultural historian at heart, but now also armed with the quantitative tools and methods of economic history.

That is, of course, not to say that I do not emerge from this PhD with a completely new understanding and appreciation for economic history, both as an academic field and for its importance in the wider society. Throughout all my years of studying history prior to the PhD, I laboured under the misconception that economic history was little more than regular history but with numbers: only concerned with financial markets, capital flows, and statistics about the industrial revolutions. While I, admittedly, am no closer at figuring out exactly what is included within the term economic history, these years have made me realise that it is a much wider field than I ever before gave it credit for. It is, of course, all that, but also so much more: it is the history of work and consumption, of daily survival and common life; the everyday trudge of waking up, labouring to put food on the table and clothes on ones back; the process of raising a family and building a life; and everything in between and beyond that affects the practical, everyday life of the common people of history. In this modern age where information is instant and notions of an idealised past is used as ideological bludgeons, good knowledge of economic history – as well as history in general – is probably more important than ever. I am ever so grateful and proud for being able to do my part in this.

Lund, 2 April 2025

1.Introduction

When I was young, a single man, | And after youthful follies ran. | Though little given to care and thought, | Yet, so it was, a ewe I bought; | And other sheep from her I raised, | As healthy sheep as you might see, | And then I married, and was rich | As I could wish to be; | Of sheep I numbered a full score, | And every year increas'd my store.

Year after year my stock it grew, | And from this one, this single ewe, | Full fifty comely sheep I raised, | As sweet a flock as ever grazed! | Upon the mountain did they feed; | They throve, and we at home did thrive. | --This lusty lamb of all my store | Is all that is alive; | And now I care not if we die, | And perish all of poverty.

William Wordsworth, The Last of the Flock stanza 3 & 4

1.1. Motivations and aims

In recent decades, a strand of historical research has emerged that stresses the economic dynamism and development in the centuries that preceded the industrial revolution (cf. Weatherill 1988; Shammas 1990; Van Zanden 2002; Overton et al. 2004; de Vries 2008; Blondé & Van Damme 2019; Bengtsson & Svensson 2020). Rather than the so-called early modern period, c. 1500-1800, as previously held simply being a protracted period of economic stagnation and mass poverty, the evidence instead suggests long-term gradual improvements in material living standards despite low to no real economic growth and even decreasing real wages. Despite important contributions, this is a process we still need significantly more research on to properly understand (Ryckbosch 2015). Especially, we need to map and analyse the material conditions of the early modern individual: what they owned, what their possibilities for work and reproduction was, and how this developed over the course of the early modern period.

Unfortunately, before the advent of wide-spread literacy – especially writing – and low-cost ink and paper, the available sources describing daily life for the common individual are rare. Historical contemporary descriptions of the lives and thoughts of the well-educated and wealthy elite – royals, nobility, merchants, and priests –

are exceedingly common among the historical sources; in the form of large collections of letters, diaries of daily life, autobiographical travel literature, and treatises on everything from ethics and religion to politics, economics, and agriculture. In comparison the lives of the poor, the common peasants or the simple craftsman, often must be reassembled from a variety of sources; court records, employment rolls, probate documents, state reports, and the aforementioned travel literature – none of them either intended for this particular use or compiled solely by or for the sake of the people they depict (Broberg, Wikander, & Åmark 1993; Ogilvie 2003; Ågren 2017; Nilsson, Hansson, & Svensson 2020).

Picture 1. The silver, copper objects, and grain belonging to the wife Benta Andersdotter (d. 1700), in Vellinge parish (Oxie häradsrätt (M) FII:1 (1690-1720) Bild 56 / sid 99). The inventory not only presents the goods present in the household, but presente them in itemised and individually valued lists which allows for detailed analysis of household possessions.

This study takes one of these many disparate sources depicting the material circumstances of the more common individual – the probate record – and from it reconstructs the material conditions and some of the survival strategies in southern Sweden during the late seventeenth to the mid nineteenth centuries. The probate record was an official document, common throughout Europe, which was drafted

shortly after the death of a head of household in order to facilitate the division of the estate (van der Woude & Shuurman (eds.) 1980; Arkell, Evans, & Goose (eds.) 2000; Jónsson 2016). While the record could take several forms, such as wills and testaments, the most common form was the inventory, an excerpt of which can be seen in picture 1:¹ the lists of all the physical – and often economic – possessions belonging to the deceased at the time of their death, such as furniture, tools, cattle, and debt claims. There is a long tradition, both in Sweden and abroad, of utilising probate inventories to study consumption, wealth, and production patterns (e.g. Hanson Jones 1982; Weatherill 1988; Shammas 1990; Ahlberger 1996; Ulväng 2021), though in a European perspective the Swedish inventories are often exceptionally detailed and extensive.

Especially after the publication of Jan de Vries' influential articles, and finally book, on the theory of the *Industrious Revolution* (1993, 1994, 2008) has a large corpus of research emerged specifically interested in the interplay between consumption, trade, and household production which can be gleaned from these inventories (e.g. Overton et al. 2004; McCants 2008; Muldrew 2011; Hutchison 2014; Bovenkerk & Fertig 2022; Congost, Ros, & Saguer 2023; Mas-Ferrer 2023a). With his theory, de Vries (2008) attempts to solve the apparent paradox of increasing material living standards despite increasing costs of living during the early modern period. He proposes that households in northwestern Europe during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries counteracted decreasing wages through an increase in market-oriented labour allocation. Driven by demand for novel consumer goods that was introduced during the period, households worked longer years and allocated more of their available labour – mainly that of women and children – to market-oriented wage work and production.

The theory – especially consumer demand as the proposed driver – has been critiqued for not being widely applicable outside of the highly urbanised and bourgeoise Low Countries (Overton et al 2004; Ogilvie 2010; Hutchison 2014; Béaur 2021). However, de Vries appears to have been more correct in his assessment that the labouring poor during the period were forced to greatly increase their labour output to attain even subsistence-minimum (Gary & Olsson 2020; Horrell, Humphries, & Weisdorf 2021), much less increase their consumption. Historian Craig Muldrew (2011: 207), in his study of the inventories of English labourers, further states that it is specifically during such a period of falling real wages, increasing rents, and accelerating proletarianization that it is possible to see in the inventories the beginning of a marked increase in the quality of the material

¹ Due to the inventory being the most common, and most widely used, of the documents, the terms *probate record* and *probate inventory* will be used interchangeably throughout the dissertation to denote the complete probate document – i.e. the inventory and the preamble including information on the deceased and individuals present when drafting it.

living standards.² It seems clear – and possibly should be obvious – that there during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries existed a correlation between an increasing industriousness and increased household consumption. The actual mechanisms of this correlation, however, are still to be properly identified.

The aim of the project has been to study the household economy and material living standards in southern Sweden during the early modern period. With a special focus on worker and peasant households, it will investigate the development of household productive capacity³ and consumption patterns in southern Sweden during the eighteenth and nineteenth century. Through these, hopefully, this study can contribute to the creation of a better picture of the economic development of the early modern period, more accurate to the experiences of those that lived through it than a story of constant poverty and economic decline. Furthermore, by using probate records – the same type of source used by de Vries himself for the Low Countries – from southern Sweden the industrious revolution theory can be empirically tested to see how well it applies to a peripheral and less economically progressive part of Europe. For this purpose, the Swedish case is close to optimal; firmly situated on the European periphery and with excellent source material from the eighteenth century with which to investigate the mechanisms behind an increased industriousness.

1.2. Research questions

Four overarching research questions have influenced direction of the dissertation and the papers that make it up. To analyse the development of household goods over the period, as well as the possible interaction between household production strategies and household consumption, the first three papers are organised around two main – and mainly empirically focused – research questions.

² Unlike the regular uses of the term living standards, which includes the level of an individual's health and nourishment, *material living standards* only includes the quality and comfort of the physical surroundings of an individual. This includes the quality of housing, clothes, furniture, and everyday goods. The focus on specifically material standards stems from the restrictions of the source material, which due to its nature only includes information on the physical possessions of the deceased, and nothing about their health, nutritional intake, and general well-being.

³ Productive capacity is defined as the extent of options and limits for within-household production, as defined by the goods, tools, and capital owned by the household and present in the probate inventory. It is specifically a measure of the forms of production that could take place within the confines of the household – rather than work done for others using other people's tools – and makes no difference between production with the aim of self-subsistence and that for sale on the market.

1. How did the household composition of productive goods develop over the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries?

A central aspect of the theory of increased industriousness is an intensification of market-oriented household labour. One of the main ways of measuring this proposed intensification, and whether it was achieved through specialisation – as assumed by classical economic thinkers such as Adam Smith – or diversification⁴, is to look at the productive goods owned by the households. These include objects such as farming equipment and spinning wheels, as well as assets such as cattle and horses. By looking at the household composition of these goods as well as differences between socio-economic groups, it is possible to identify sourced of income that were possible for the household, reconstruct its production strategies, and map how these developed over time.

2. How did the household composition of consumer goods develop over the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries?

To analyse the development of material living standards, as well as the second part of the industrious revolution theory – that of increased household consumption – the composition of consumer goods in the inventories has been investigated. To analyse this, a wide and comprehensive list of non-consumable consumer goods – i.e. not food and fuel, which otherwise are not visible in the inventories – was selected. By finding what consumer items are acquired by these households, and how this composition differs between socio-economic groups and changes over time, it is possible to identify shifts in consumer behaviour, map the development of material living standards, and connect these to the economic development of the period and the shifts in production strategies.

Both these two questions are investigated and discussed in the first three papers of the dissertation – question 1 in Paper I and 2 in Papers II & III. As can be seen in the flowchart of the structure of the dissertation, presented in figure 1, they both make up the basis for the study in paper IV and constitutes the main empirical foundation for the theoretical discussion in the kappa. Apart from these, a third question was posed regarding the institutional and practical framework within

⁴ Diversification will be primarily measured through the evidence of *pluriactivity* – participation by household members in multiple productive and income-generating activities. Instead of pluriactivity some historians use the term *by-employment*, and both of these terms are used interchangeably throughout the dissertation.

which these households – especially on the countryside – had to act when striving to improve their material conditions.

3. What was the impact of markets and their institutional framework on household access to consumption goods?

Just because households increased their labour productivity and their income, it does not necessarily mean that they could automatically access the new consumer goods introduced during the period. Very few – if any – of the new manufactured consumer goods of the period could be produced locally, and households were dependent on both regional and inter-regional markets to acquire these objects. However, both practical and institutional restrictions would have interfered in the interactions between the – especially rural – household and the market: the distance between the home and the closest market town would have entailed an added cost, and the good would in many cases even have needed to be transported to this town from elsewhere, due to a lack of local producers. While touched upon throughout the dissertation, this question is mainly discussed in Paper IV.

These three questions – outlining both the empirical foundation of household production and consumption as well as the institutional and practical framework within which this consumption could occur – are intended to provide the pieces necessary to answer the fourth, more theoretically focused research question.

4. What is the relevance of the industrious revolution theory for the economic development in Sweden during the early modern period?

Are the mechanisms of an Industrious Revolution driven by the demand for novel consumer goods applicable to the early modern Swedish experience? If not, then if we accept the argument by Gary & Olsson (2020) about an increase in labour output during the eighteenth century, how can we understand the connection between the co-occurrent increases in both household production and consumption during the period? While not the sole determiner for the dissertation, this more theoretical research question remains in the background and suffuse it in its entirety; from the main framing and the formulation of the preceding questions, to the selection of material and timeframe.

Though all of them touches upon different aspects of the Industrious revolution theory, none of the papers has the space or the scope to discuss it in full: household production and the intensification of labour is discussed in Paper I; household consumption of goods, adoption of new consumer patterns, and the development of material living standards, as well as some discussion on how these correlate to the aforementioned development in household production on the countryside is discussed in Paper II, and in the towns in Paper III; lasty the impact of markets and market access is discussed in Paper IV. Instead, the concluding theoretical discussion of the industrious revolution, is the dissertation itself – especially chapter 7 of the Kappa.



Figure 1. How the different papers fit together within the dissertation.

1.3. Contribution

The dissertation makes several contributions. First, to the available data on household ownership of goods during the early modern period. Second, to the knowledge of, and debates on, early modern household reproduction, material living standards, and economic growth. In section 6 is presented summaries of the individual papers of the dissertation, as well as their main conclusions and contributions, while section 7 presents a more in-depth discussion and synthesis of the major contributions of the dissertation as a whole – especially how it contributes to our possible understanding and interpretation of the industrious revolution theory.

1.3.1. Contributions to data

One of the bigger contributions I make with this dissertation is the large-scale, general sampling of Swedish probate records and creation of a unified database spanning almost 200 years – or 300 years, as is the case for Malmö. This long-run dataset allows us to study the development of material living standards throughout the latter half of the early modern period; or almost the whole, as in the case for Malmö specifically. Especially the sampling of the earliest pre-1734 probate records represent a major contribution, as this dissertation is the first time these has been sampled in any large scale and placed in a comparable context with later inventories.

The data collected in the database is detailed enough to track the developments of household wealth and composition of goods – both productive goods and consumer goods – over the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, and even back to the late sixteenth century in the case for the town of Malmö. The entire dataset, both for the rural and urban probate records, has been made freely available as a digital dataset, accessible through the Lund Economic History department's webpage.⁵ Hopefully, the availability of the data can both inspire future research using it, as well as similar projects for other parts of Sweden.

Paper IV, with its analysis of sea-bound trade data to the towns of Scania and Halland, furthermore calls into question the reliance of trade flows data as a measurement – or even proxy – of economic development and household consumption. Trade flows are often used to measure market integration, exchange between regions, and even the regional consumption based on the inflow of imported goods (Braudel 1986; Rönnbäck 2010; Crucini & Smith 2014; Bateman 2016; Edvinsson & Tarek Gad 2018). However, as shown in the paper significant improvements in material living standards can be achieved even without any real development in trade flows. This means that other aspects of trade must be considered if one wants to identify the possible connection between trade and living standards. Moreover, the paper also calls in question the usefulness of the Sound Toll Register, especially for analysing trade to regions immediately surrounding the toll as the results show a significant omission of ships passing through the toll to Malmö during the eighteenth century.

1.3.2. Contributions to literature and debates

The dissertation contributes to the literature on early modern household consumption and reproduction – for Sweden in particular, but also for the European periphery more general – by providing a detailed depiction of the development of both household production strategies and consumption behaviour over the

⁵ https://www.lusem.lu.se/organisation/department-economic-history/research-department-economichistory/databases-department-economic-history/economic-history-data

eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. The results of the dissertation help to further problematize the problems with taking the current national statistics of early modern Sweden at face value, such as the estimations of GDP per capita, grain production, and to some extent even real wage series (Edvinsson 2009; Edvinsson 2013; Schön & Krantz 2015; Gary 2018).⁶ Contrary to these trends, which all seemingly depict a stagnant eighteenth-century economy, the probate inventories for both towns and countryside instead suggest a highly dynamic eighteenth-century economy, with significant improvements in both household wealth and the material quality of households during the period.

An eighteenth-century improvement in the material quality of homes has previously been assumed for the peasant and merchant groups; while the increased affluence of the merchants is well-backed (Müller 1998; Andersson 2009; Brown 2020), for the peasants it has mainly been deduced from frozen land rents and the improved political position of the peasant estate during the first years of the age of liberty (Gadd 2000). Though the development for the peasant group is seemingly backed up by probate studies for the second half of the eighteenth century, no earlier reference point has so far been available to compare with (Ahlberger 1996; Hallén 2009; Ulväng 2021). However, the new – more encompassing and longer-spanning - analyses of the material conditions of both town and countryside from as early as the late sixteenth century reveal that the merchants and landowning peasants were not the only groups that benefited from the economic and political reforms during the period. The whole population improved their material circumstances, including the significantly poorer labourers despite the very low real wages and their economically precarious situation. These improvements were furthermore mostly centred around increased comfort, rather than improvements in productive capacity or consumption of either traditional status markers – such as silver – or new colonial goods; the focus on many earlier studies.

Regarding the *Industrious Revolution*, the study professes support for the interpretation proposed by Craig Muldrew (2011). Much like in late seventeenth-century England, Sweden during the mid-eighteenth century appears to see a concurrent development of both increased industriousness – as exemplified by the diversification of household production – and an increased material quality of homes. While this increase in quality of homes is line with the development of the consumer revolution, on the Swedish countryside this happens without an increase in consumption of colonial goods, which is usually assumed in regard to the theory.

I propose a revision of the theory which moves the discussion away from the focus on consumption of colonial goods and back to the question of the allocation of time within the household – an aspect of de Vries' original presentation of the theory that

⁶ See also Bengtsson & Svensson 2020 for another discussion on the shortcomings of the Swedish historical GDP series.

appears to have been largely omitted in much recent research. Furthermore, I argue we should put focus on the interaction between household production and consumption inherent in the theory, rather than the causal effect of one upon the other; treating them as co-current and mutually reinforcing powers.

1.4. Limitations

Naturally, this dissertation, with its dependence on probate records, has several limitations that should be taken into consideration when interpreting the results. Most of these are highlighted in section 3 when the data is discussed, while the individual papers each outline some of the more specific limitations for each substudy. There are however a few overarching limitations that are worth mentioning already here.

One major limitation of probate records as an historical source is the fact that they only record stocks of goods, rather than flows. They are an invaluable source for the composition of household goods at a single, very particular point in the timespan of the household life-cycle – namely the very end after the death of either spouse (Malanima & Pinchera 2012). This source can ultimately tell nothing about the daily consumption of a household – the food that was consumed, the fuel and candles that were burnt, the thread and old textiles used to patch clothes, and the mass of dinnerware that broke and had to be replaced (Bedell 2000). All these daily – or, more probably, weekly or monthly – purchases can only be inferred and assumed from the presence of other goods in the household – such as teakettles, breadbaskets, and candlesticks. There is furthermore no way for the modern historian reading through a probate inventory to know when, where, and how any one particular item ended up in a household; whether made by hand by the owner, inherited from parents, or purchased at an auction in a neighbouring village.

Another major limitation hail from the active choice of excerpting, rather than transcribing, the inventories. Decided due to it being the significantly cheaper and more efficient option – as we sought quantity in sampling to build a database large enough to support quantitative analysis – the consequence is a relative limitation in the possibilities for analysis, compared to with fully transcribed inventories. While the selection of what to sample from every inventory was made as broad and encompassing as possible – and we have indeed sampled data, such as debts, credits, and presence of musical and scientific instruments which ultimately was not used for any of the papers – there are still many things missing from the sampling.

2. Historical Context: Early modern production and consumption

This dissertation situates itself between two different, yet closely connected, fields of historical research. On the one hand the field of history focused on production and economic development, and on the other consumption and the so-called world of goods. The former field is concerned with how people worked and survived; how both individuals and households organized their daily lives and allocated often scarce resources in order to maintain – and hopefully exceed – a minimum living standard necessary for daily survival (e.g. see: Hufton 1974; Vardi 1999; Gadd 2000; Ågren 2017; Horrell, Hufton, & Weisdorf 2022;). The latter is focused on the objects, goods – both material and consumable – and services which individuals and households spent their available accumulated surplus on in order to raise living standards above the bare minimum necessary for survival (e.g. see: McKendrick, Brewer, & Plumb 1982; Shammas 1990; Brewer & Porter 1993; Ahlberger 1996; Roche 2000; Crowley 2001; McCants 2008). Research and theories spanning the gap between these two fields are by no means new, and can be traced all the way back to the economic theories of Adam Smith (Blondé & Van Damme 2019); the recently most influential one, that of the Industrious Revolution, will be discussed in the next section.

2.1 The early modern agrarian economy

The early modern economy was an agrarian economy, highly dependent on the produce derived from land for everything from food and fuel to textiles and building materials. It was also throughout Europe largely rural, with the lion share of the population living in villages and farms on the countryside (Epstein 2001); in Sweden, still in the 1860s more than 70% of the population were in one way or another dependent on agriculture as their main income – be it farming, forestry, fishing, or seasonal harvest work (Morell 2001). Due to the seasonal nature of agricultural production creating natural production bottlenecks, its dependence on weather and soil quality, as well as the complexity of balancing field areal and sustaining stocks of cattle for pulling the plough and providing fertilizer, it was

furthermore long difficult to effectively increase agricultural production (Gadd 1983; Wiking-Faria 2009; Olsson & Svensson 2010).

As can be seen in table 1, though the economically progressive core regions of England and the Low Countries managed to early achieve at least a modicum of economic growth – mainly through a combination of early agricultural reforms, a focus on trade, and the presence of an early and large proto-industrial⁷ textile industry (Allen 1992; Prak 2023) – most of Europe saw an economic stagnation throughout most of the early modern period. While recurring wars during the sixteenth and seventeenth century repressed growth, rapid population growth during the eighteenth century saw rapidly increasing costs of agricultural production and decreasing real wages (Allen & Weisdorf 2011; Malanima & Pinchera 2012; Gary 2018).

Year	France	Germany	Italy	Netherlands	Poland	Spain	Sweden	United Kingdom
1601	1571	1456	2543	3791	1027	1288	1436	1671
1651	1612	1562	2396	3988	909	1053	1398	1527
1701	1776	1581	2469	3746	991	1247	2043	2613
1751	1753	1785	2485	4046	1095	1282	1506	2627
1801	1580	1781	2515	4111	-	1352	1353	3351
1851	2499	2244	2543	3834	1038	1718	1682	4477

Table 1. GDP per capita (2011\$) for selected European countries.

Sources: Ridolfi & Nuvolari 2021 for France; Pfister 2022 for Germany; Chilosi & Ciccarelli 2023 for Italy; Smiths, Horlings, & Van Zanden 2000, Van Zanden & van Leeuwen 2012 for Netherlands; Malinowski & Van Zanden 2017 for Poland; Álvarez-Nogal & Prados de la Escosure 2013, Prados de la Escosura 2017 for Spain; Schön & Krantz 2015 for Sweden. Broadberry et al 2015 for United Kingdom.

Throughout Europe the smallest economic unit, as well as the locus of both reproduction and consumption was the household (Overton et al. 2004; de Vries 2008; Ågren 2017). This unit, which functioned as the smallest tax unit and to a large extent functioned as the blueprint of society (Pihl 2011), was in northern and western Europe characterized by the so-called European Marriage Pattern: with a low level of complexity, with a focus on the nuclear family and dependent servants; a high age at first marriage, in southern Sweden as high as 34,3 years for men and 29,1 for women (Lundh 1997); and a high level of neo-locality, the practice of creating new households rather than moving into, and expanding, an existing one (Hajnal 1965).

Sweden during the early modern period, and especially going into the eighteenth century, was by most historical economic accounts a stagnant economy. The rapid

⁷ Proto-industry is the established term for the small-scale rural industrialisation that can be identified in the century leading up to the industrial revolution. It was mainly driven by marketoriented and mostly hand-powered rural production in especially textile production.

population growth that followed the end of empire and long period of semi-constant wars in 1718 easily outpaced the low economic growth of the period, and - as can be seen in figure 2 – both measured of GDP per capita and real wages during the period suggests a significant drop in the wealth and living standards of the population (Schön & Krantz 2015; Gary 2018). The agricultural output as well remained fairly stagnant – mostly in line with population growth – throughout most of seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. Not until the end of the eighteenth century could output be increased through a combination of institutional and technological improvements of the agricultural practices. First with the introduction of the potato, agricultural reforms leading to more unified peasant lands, and the adoption of iron ploughs could a higher agricultural production be achieved. The improvements were aided by the spread of iron axled wagons which increased the transport opportunities and better allowed surplus regions to sell their produce (Gadd 1983; Hallén 2003; Bergenfeldt 2014). Combined with institutional reforms after 1780, which abolished internal tolls and restrictions on grain exports, this led to a significant improvement in agricultural output (Gadd 2000; Edvinsson 2009; Olsson & Svensson 2010).



Figure 2. GDP per capita (2011\$) and male daily real wages in Sweden, 1670-1850

Note: Real wage is calculated as nominal wage deflated by cost of living; number of annual consumption baskets that could be purchased. Source: Schön & Krantz 2015 for GDP, Gary 2018 for real wages.

However, the general economic stagnation of the period did not affect everyone evenly. The kingdom-wide tax reforms of the late seventeenth century – intended to

better fund a standing army and the state administration – in practice led to frozen land rents for the next century. In the face of otherwise increasing inflation, this greatly reduced the tax burden for peasants on crown and tax lands.⁸ Together with the empowering of the peasant estate during the first part of the so-called Age of *Liberty*, this allowed these peasants to greatly improve their economic position; it freed up a previously unavailable income surplus which they could use to both invest in further productive capital and to improve their material conditions (Gadd 2000, 2011). Peasants on noble land, however, of which parts of the sampled regions boasts a remarkably high share, had little opportunity to take advantage of the improved economic conditions. Furthermore, the fast growing share of landless and semi-landless households, being relegated to the crofts at the village outskirts or street-houses (gatehus) at the centre, saw their economic circumstances quickly deteriorate as real wages dropped in the face of a continuously increasing cost of living and progressing proletarianization of the rural poor (Hanssen 1952; Persson 2002: Lindström J. 2008: Bengtsson & Olsson 2020). As such, any developments over the eighteenth century cannot implicitly be assumed to be universal for the entire rural population, or even just for the peasant population, prompting the need for a wider and more comprehensive study.

While the rural economy of Sweden was highly characterised by agriculture and access to land, the harsh climate and generally poor soils of much of Sweden greatly limited the agricultural capacity in many regions. In the highly fertile regions of especially southern Scania and Mälardalen in central Sweden, agricultural output could be kept high, and most households could rely on farmwork for their reproduction; elsewhere, households had to complement their agricultural production with handicraft, forestry, or a greater share of husbandry (Campbell 1928; Hanssen 1952; Gadd 1983; Bohman 2010). As the population increase accelerated during the early eighteenth century, the share of landless and semilandless households increased drastically. These households, often significantly smaller than regular peasant households, were as the term implies either completely without land or limited to only a small plot or vegetable garden for personal consumption. Instead, they were often dependent on wage work – often seasonal agricultural labour – for their reproduction (Lindström J. 2017, 2018; Bengtsson & Olsson 2020).

⁸ Land in Sweden was after the reformation divided into three main types, based on ownership and tax status: Noble land, which was – initially – owned exclusively by the nobility, tax exempt, and either rented to peasants or run by the noble themselves as a part of their domains; Crown land, owned by the king – and by extension the state – and rented to peasants; and Tax land, owned by the peasants themselves in exchange for paying land tax to the crown. Except for a greater right to possession for peasants on tax land there was little practical differences between peasants on Crown and Tax land regarding rents, taxes, and rights. Peasants on Noble land, however. paid significantly higher rents – often in the form of corvée (forced) labour – had no inherent right to the land they worked, and was politically represented by their noble landlord rather than by themselves (Gadd 2000; Myrdal 1999).

Early modern Sweden was an exceedingly agrarian society with only around 10% of the population living in towns still in the mid-nineteenth century – around half of which had fewer than 1500 inhabitants (Sandberg 2001:30). Despite many of these towns being little more than glorified villages by wider European standards,⁹ towns in early modern Sweden were a legal distinction that allowed the inhabitants several rights and privileges not afforded to the rural populace; most importantly the rights to practice craft and to trade, both with other cities and with the surrounding countryside (Sandberg 2001).

Just as the distinction between town and countryside was important in both contemporary legislation and economic thought, so was the distinction in privileges given to different towns (Sovelius 1759). A series of trade ordinances enacted between 1617 and 1634 legally divided Swedish towns between a few select Staple towns (*stapelstad*) – or import towns – and a larger number of Uptowns (*uppstad*). Whereas the merchants of the former had the right to accept foreign ships and trade freely both domestically and with foreign ports, those of the latter only had the right to trade with the peasant on the surrounding countryside – and later, after some intense complaining to the king, also other domestic towns (Thomasson 1858).¹⁰ Enacted with the hope of incentivising the growth of certain towns – especially Stockholm – in practice this gave the staple towns and its merchants the exclusive right to foreign trade, making the limited number of staple towns into natural middle-points for the distribution of new goods. Since many towns formerly belonging to Denmark were allowed to keep their staple town status after annexed in 1658, the area analysed for this dissertation contained five towns with this right, including both Malmö and Ystad which has been sampled for the study – Falkenberg lost the staple town privilege in 1660 – shortly after the annexation by Sweden – and did not regain it again until 1866, just a few years before the system was abolished (Thomasson 1858; Annerstedt 1995). The trade advantage held by these towns, and the benefits they provided to the surrounding countryside in regard to access to goods and trade opportunities were a well-understood truth in contemporary thought (Sovelius 1759), and both burghers and peasants frequently - vet often in vain - petitioned the crown for staple right (Thomasson 1858). However, legal reforms in the mid-1770s eased many of these restrictions on trade, and most of them were then abolished in the early nineteenth century to be replaced by a special toll-tax right, which ushered in a period of free-er – but not yet free – trade (Stråle 1884; Heckscher 1949; Magnusson 2000).

⁹ For example the town of Falkenberg corresponds well in size to the village of Neckarhausen studied by Warren Sabean (1990).

¹⁰ The division was based on the medieval practice of Staple Right, which obliged merchants travelling through towns to sell their goods to the merchants there which they themselves then had the right to either sell to local buyers or re-export further (Thomasson 1858).

2.2 Pluriactivity and early modern labour

The generally low agricultural output, the continuously decreasing real wages, the lack of savings institutions and reliable safety networks, as well as the high reliance on unstable weather meant that a large part of the early modern population lived precariously close to the sustenance levels. Many households and individuals, in order to survive, had to resort to a hodgepodge of survival strategies such as combining limited agricultural production with seasonal wage labour, household textile production, odd jobs for neighbours, or – for the poorest – begging and theft. Olwen H. Hufton (1974) in her study of the poor in eighteenth century France termed this *An Economy of Makeshifts*, and stressed the importance that mutual support networks had for the survival and reproduction of these poorest households living on the fringes of society. Though she was mainly interested in the destitute, rather than the peasant and labouring population as a whole, also the great masses of both urban and rural labourers of the period were highly dependent on a high degree of pluriactivity for their survival.

Recent research on long-term development of real wages and income strategies in both England and Sweden has highlighted the increasing difficulty for the early modern labouring household in achieving a base sustenance level on male labour alone (Allen & Weisdorf 2011; Muldrew 2011; Lilja & Bäcklund 2013a, 2013b; Gary 2018; Gary & Olsson 2020; Horrell, Humphries, & Weisdorf 2022). Due to the decreasing real wages during the period, not only the male head was forced to increase their productivity to sustain a household, but the whole family would have had to contribute through household production and odd jobs. This was especially true for those households who, beyond mere sustenance, also wished to achieve a more respectable consumption level of a greater degree of cleanliness, comfort, and outward presentation of respectability (de Vries 2008; Gary 2018; Humphries 2024).

For the Swedish context, the Gender and Work project at Uppsala University has done invaluable work to highlight the universal and all-encompassing nature of early modern labour. By looking at the wide range of possible work that both men, women, and children undertook during the early modern period, the researchers on the project have highlighted the ubiquitousness of work in daily life during the period, as well as the varied and often idiosyncratic ways in which individuals and households made a living. Both men and women worked, with the work of especially women and children often necessary for the survival of the household as a single income was seldom enough to support a household during the period; the gender divide in work were often fluent or non-existent, and the types of work done by men and women often overlapped – be it working the fields, tending the animals, digging ditches, or working construction (Lindström, Fiebranz, & Rydén 2017; Ågren 2017; Gary 2018). Furthermore, the type of renumeration for work was diverse and often indirect; in a society lacking money and formalized labour

markets, individuals would often work in exchange for food, goods of different kinds such as shoes and clothes, credit which could be exchanged at a future – often undetermined – date, or even the promise of future help as a part of intricate – and often vital – social communities or mutual support structures existing both in towns and on the countryside (Ågren 2017; Lindström & Mispeleare 2015; Lindström, Fiebranz, & Rydén 2017; Lindström et al 2017).

The level of specialisation within the agricultural economy was low, and even in the towns there were a very low level of occupational specialisation, with households instead relying on a diverse range of income opportunities (Isacson 1979; Sandström 1996; Gadd 2000; Lindström 2008; Lindström, Fiebranz, Rydén 2017; Ågren 2017). Most people, in order to survive, were often forced to find several alternative modes of income to complement the income from agriculture or craft. For those who failed, poor relief was often inadequate to support a family, forcing poor households to beg or to give up their children as servants and workers. Even households where the male was employed by the state – such as soldiers and low-level administrators – were often forced to rely on alternative forms of income for their reproduction, as the state were often unable to properly pay their employees (Engberg 2005; Lennersand et al 2017; Lindberg, Jacobsson, & Ling 2017).

The Gender and Work project showcases the ubiquitousness and breadth of possible work during the post-medieval and early modern period – and problematizes previously established beliefs about especially the work of women and children. However, due to their reliance on incidental reporting of work in especially court and administrative documents they capture mostly work that happens in public, rather than within the confines of the home. For example, the Gender and Work database, which contain over 42 000 observations, includes only circa 230 instances of someone spinning wool or flax, nine of people knitting, and three of someone lathing, while it has 1076 of someone stealing (GaW online database, accessed 2024-09-12).¹¹ All of these are forms of work we know from other sources were both common and important sources of income in Sweden during the period (Johansson 2001; Bengtsson & Svensson 2020).

Overton et al (2004) in their study of probate records from the English countryside find evidence of an increased diversification of household production over the seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries, both for self-consumption – as a way to increase savings by making the household less dependent on markets – and for commercial sale. They especially find a correlation between household consumption and the presence of tools signifying significant degrees of market-oriented by-employment. Keibek and Shaw-Taylor (2013), however, in their own

¹¹ The Gender and Work project are acknowledging this limit, and are at the time of writing including projects specifically looking at probate inventories (<u>https://www.uu.se/forskning/gender-and-work/forskning/resultat-och-delprojekt/metod--ochbegreppsutveckling</u>, accessed 2024-11-15)

investigation of rural pluriactivity on the English countryside conclude that the assumptions about rural, market-oriented by-employments during the early modern period are exaggerated; in reality, they argue, it became less common and likely disappeared completely among the poorer parts of the population over the eighteenth century. They argue that, especially English, historians only can claim a consistently high level of by-employment on the countryside due to the dual facts that households with by-employments are wealthier and thus more likely to be probated, and because English probate records generally dry up as a viable source exactly during the period of English history when the practice of rural by-employment is being abandoned.

The critique of Keibek and Shaw-Taylor (2013) is pertinent to keep in mind, especially the remark that the poorest – always under-represented in the sources – would have been unlikely to have owned the tools necessary for most by-employment. One major limit of their study, however, is the insistence of only counting individual male by-employment (ibid: 250). As already stated, the household – rather than the individual – was the unit of production during the early modern period. The expansion of household production through by-employment during the period would to a large part have been through the reallocation of female and child labour, rather than necessarily through a diversification of male labour (Overton et al. 2005; de Vries 2008; Ågren 2017; Horrell, Humphries, & Weisdorf 2022). As such, the decision to completely ignore female pluriactivity leads Keibek and Shaw-Taylor (2013: 255) to completely disregard the presence of spinning wheels.

For the Swedish peasants, especially those living less fertile regions, the sale of handicraft – often made during the long winter months – was central to the survival of the households. Especially as population increase over the eighteenth century led to an increasing share of the rural landless and semi-landless across the country, which further eroded the viability of agricultural production as the sole source of income (Campbell 1928; Hanssen 1952; Isacson 1979; Johansson 2001; Bengtsson & Svensson 2020). Especially spinning and similar textile production would have been important as supplementary modes of income for rural households during the period, as the market for yarn and textiles expanded greatly during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. As a mainly female labour, spinning allowed the household to increase the labour output of women and children, and greatly increased household access to cash and credit (Gullickson 1986; Vardi 1999; Johansson 2001; Lindström et al. 2017).

Throughout Europe, the eighteenth-century increased demand for manufactured goods – especially textiles – following the population increase of the period opened up new opportunities for the rural population. Participation in this emergent proto-industrial production allowed these households to increase their production, spread out work across the year, and divest from their reliance on land and – important for the quickly growing share of landless and semi-landless – seasonal agricultural

employment (Berg 1985; Dribe & van de Putte 2012; Gullickson 1986; Johansson 2001). In especially rural regions with easy access to nearby towns, and by extension larger inter-regional market, the increase in proto-industrial production for sale on the market allowed large swathes of the peasant population, especially women, to free themselves from the traditional constraints of land. In many places this led to a complete reorganization of rural society: the availability of household reproduction through cottage industry rather than land allowed individuals to form households at younger ages – or even alone – without the previously necessary security of access to land feed a family. Furthermore, the increased reliance on market production further sped up the monetization of rural society, and reduced the previous focus on self-sufficiency common in traditional peasant societies in favour of acquiring goods on the market (Berg 1985; Gullickson 1986; Vardi 1999; Ogilvie 2003).

It is important to remember, however, that this divestment from the land and increase in both proto-industrial production and by-employments were not necessarily all positive for the rural population, nor solely led to an increase in wealth or living standards (Berg 1985; Gullickson 1986). While by-employment and a diversification of incomes for some was a way of taking advantage of the economic opportunities that presented themselves in the very lowly specialized early modern economy, for many it was central to the survival strategy of the household (Lindström J., Fiebranz, & Rydén 2017). Diversification into crafts for sale and cottage industry was for many landless and semi-landless throughout both Europe and the colonies across the seas a necessity to survive in the face of decreasing real wages and increased cost of living. Often, it did little less but allowed these households to keep up with the economic development of the period and momentarily checked the rising inequality that came with the progressing proletarianization (Bengtsson & Svensson 2020; Gary & Olsson 2020; Green Carr & Menard 1999; Horrell, Humphries, & Weisdorf 2020).

2.3 Early modern consumption and development of consumer markets

Emerging out of the medieval period, consumption in Europe was closely tied to the maintenance and presentation of social status, as well as reproduction of societal hierarchies. As exemplified by sumptuary legislation dating back to at least the Middle Ages, social status and ones' position within the social hierarchy was demonstrated through the presentation of conspicuous and expensive consumption; jewellery and ornaments of precious metals, clothes with excessive amounts of expensive fabrics, and large quantities of expensive and imported foodstuffs (Andersson G. 2006, 2009; Burke 1993; Jervis 2017; Knutsson & Hodacs 2021). Apart from the consumption of everyday life – food, clothes, tools, and cooking

ware – consumption as a concept was mainly associated with the acquisition of luxury goods, the main carriers of status throughout the ages. As mainly the purview of the nobility, due to the often-exorbitant costs associated with them, consumption was often criticized as wasteful and immoral by both religious and burgher thinkers of the period. Not until the publication and subsequent virality of Bernard Mandeville's famous *Fable of the Bees* in 1723 did this change, and the debate shifted to the possible advantages of – especially, but not exclusively – luxury consumption for the economic development of society (Blondé & van Damme 2019; Roche 2000; Runefelt 2004).

While it is fruitless to attempt to date the 'birth' of the modern consumer society (Blondé & van Damme 2019), a shift in consumer behaviour started to emerge in Europe more clearly during the seventeenth century. Originating among the urban genteel classes of Paris, London, and the highly urbanised Low Countries, it spread both outward geographically, and downwards socio-economically over the following century. This shift, popularly known as the Consumer Revolution among historians of the period, entailed the introduction of a completely new set of goods and consumer habits into the homes of the early modern household, more focused around comfort and sociability than status through the trappings of conspicuousness (Ahlberger 1996; Béaur 2021; Crowley 2001; McKendrick, Brewer, & Porter 1982; Roche 2000; Stobart & Rothery 2016). Made possible by the expansion of intercontinental trade – especially the large-scale import of tea, coffee, and cotton from Asia and the Americas - and technical advancements in pottery and furnituremaking, this consumer revolution saw the popularisation of tea- and coffee-drinking as a stable of daily life, the introduction of specialized furniture such as the chaise longue, tea-table and cupboard, and the gradual and wide-spread adoption of porcelain and glazed earthenware as a replacement for similar objects of wood and pewter (Becket & Smith 2000; McCants 2008; Shammas 1990; Weatherill 1988).

Among the emerging urban bourgeoisie and rural gentility of the period the ultimate expression of the developments of the consumer revolution was the *social visit*. This practice of informal socialising in the home became a hallmark of culture and social status among the genteel classes during the eighteenth and throughout most of the nineteenth century. To enact properly it necessitated the acquisition of a plethora of consumer objects; chief of which was those related to the serving and drinking of colonial hot drinks (Weatherill 1988; Crowley 2001; Andersson G. 2009; Vickery 2009; Runefelt 2015; Stobart & Rothery 2016). Not only did this include the kettles and cups for brewing and serving tea and coffee, but a world of objects and furniture related to the entertainment, comfort, and impressing on of guests: specialised tea-and gaming-tables to socialise around, cushioned chairs and sofas for comfortable seating, and pieces of art and clocks as the physical trappings of a cultured education and lifestyle (McKendrick, Brewer, & Porter 1982; Roche 2000).

The consumer revolution brought with it more changes than simply a re-prioritising of social life from the public to the private sphere. The idea of comfort changed

during the early modern period, from a medieval understanding as a lack of personal, physical discomfort – feeling well, being healthy, and being warm, as opposed to un-well, un-healthy, and cold – to the more modern sense of physical and mental comfortability and well-being; as something actively present and positive, rather than simply the absence of something negative (Crowley 2001:45ff). This change in the definition of comfort brought with it changes in consumption towards better bedding and dinnerware, improved heating and insulation, a new standard of furniture, and access to clean water (Roche 2000; Crowley 2001; Brown 2020). Unlike the practice of the social visit, these changes to the idea of personal and domestic comfort were not restricted to the burgher upper classes, but was pursued both in towns and on the countryside by any household with the means to do so; the consequence of which was a drastic restructuring of the home.

A combination of the expansion of intercontinental trade, a raise in average labour productivity through an increase in market-oriented labour-time, an expanding second-hand market due to population increase, and minor technical improvements - especially in printing and colouring of textiles, pottery, and glazing - during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries led to the gradual and continuous decrease in cost of manufactured goods relative to food (Weatherill 1988; Murhem, Ulväng & Lilja 2010; Malaina & Pinchera 2012; Mas-Ferrer 2020). As the cost of these secondary goods decreased, two things happened: first, the traditional systems of status based on consumption and access to goods started to deteriorate in the face of earlier status-bearing goods becoming more widely available, such as silks and cotton garments, valuable metals such as pewter and silver, pieces of art, porcelain, and colonial goods (Runefeldt 2015); and secondly, the decreasing material costs of production spawned a thriving market of cheap and fashion-sensitive populuxe goods.¹² This in turn introduced a new way for the affluent and cultured to present status through consumption and heralding the start of the current era of disposable and breakable fast-fashion (Fairchilds 1993; de Vries 2008.)

These new fast fashion populuxe goods were available solely through the market and the rapidly expanding urban retail sector of artisans, travelling peddlers, and shops. While wealth remained the strongest explaining factor whether a household would own any one particular consumer goods throughout the period (Shammas 1990), the presence of pawn shops and a flourishing second-hand market for goods greatly contributed to smooth out consumption over time by decreasing purchasing costs and allowing households to acquire a surplus of consumer goods during economically better periods (Murhem, Ulväng & Lilja 2010; Malanima & Pinchera 2012; Mas-Ferrer 2020). As long as furniture, silverware, and clothing represented assets with intrinsic value they could be used as alternative currency through pawning or re-sale – an option that, however, decreased in viability as the eighteenth

¹² A portmanteau of *popular* and *luxury*, denoting cheap versions of more expensive luxury goods – often of significantly lower quality – for popular mass consumption.

and nineteenth centuries progressed and fashion and design increased in value (Blondé & Van Damme 2019).

After the expansion of urban retailing made shopping a viable way to acquire goods and commodities – as well as making it a fashionable past-time for the wealthy gentility – shop density continued to increase in European towns even despite stagnating economic growth (Blondé & Van Damme 2019; Hellsing & Ilmakunnas 2023). Indeed, during the period shops and travelling pedlars started to replace the earlier tradition of markets, temporary fairs, and urban guild-controlled direct sales in many parts of Europe, making access to these retailers a significant new factor for whether households could acquire goods or not (Shammas 1990; Roche 2000; de Vries 2008; Ronsijn 2013). But while shops started to spring up in every small town and larger village in England and the Low Countries – with travelling pedlars serving those further out on the countryside – the case remained very different for Sweden.

Swedish legislation throughout the early modern period formally restricted all form of trade and retailing to towns and the temporal markets held at special holidays, such as Michaelmas. Peasants were legally forbidden from practicing crafts for sale outside of towns – though royal exceptions could be made for cobblers and tailors in regions without easy access to a town¹³ – and similarly merchants were not allowed to travel outside the towns to sell their wares, practically restricting all legal trade and retailing to towns bearing town privileges (Sandberg 2001). However, due to the low level of urbanisation during the period and the often agrarian nature of the small towns the reality was likely more complex than the legal system suggests. Not the least indicated by the many parliamentary debates during the mid-eighteenth century on the question, which in 1776 resulted in a special dispensation for peasants from the so-called *Sjuhäradsbygden* in western Sweden to both trade and peddle their own handicrafts outside the town limits - a right they famously utilised far outside their own parishes (Lundqvist 2008; Brismarck & Lundqvist 2010). Restrictions on rural peddling were not abolished until 1846, and town privileges were repealed in 1864, ending the last legal restriction to retailing.

¹³ There are several petitions sent to the Governor (*Landshövding*) of Örebro County from rural craftsmen in the early eighteenth century, asking for dispensation to practice their craft or to be excused from being counted as unemployed vagrants – and thus be drafted into the military – because they were practicing craftsmen. For example parish cobbler Lars Larsson, who in 1715 petitioned the governor of Örebro County to be allowed to practice his craft in Sköllersta parish: https://sok.riksarkivet.se/bildvisning/40000317_00288#?c=&m=&s=&cv=287&xywh=2820%2C_597%2C2244%2C3800 (2024-08-29)

For more information, see *Supplikregister* in Digitala Forskarsalen, <u>https://sok.riksarkivet.se/amnesomrade?infosida=amnesomrade-suppliker</u> (2024-04-19).

3. Theoretical Framework: Industriousness and the impact of early modern markets

The dissertation makes heavy use of, and is in discussion with, current theories about the industrious revolution in particular, and early modern markets and market developments in general. The *Industrious Revolution* theory, developed by economic historian Jan de Vries in a series of articles and collected in his influential book of the same name (1993; 1994; 2008), is arguably the most influential recent attempt to provide a form of synthesis between the two fields of historical production and consumption. It seeks to present a unified theory of how they interacted before the advent of industrialization to contribute to economic growth, and has spawned a large collection of further articles and books assessing the connection between production and consumption before the advent of industrialization (for examples apart from the present dissertation, see: Gary & Olsson 2020; Hutchison 2014; Muldrew 2011; Overton et al 2004).

3.1 The Industrious Revolution

Relying on Becker's (1965) theory of the allocation of time, de Vries (2008) presents household consumption as the ultimate consumption of *basic commodities*, or so-called Z-commodities. These Z-commodities, which can better be described as the end-state of consumption – i.e. the goal of consumption – rather than as any particular types of goods, is achieved (produced) through the combination of market goods (x) and time (T), and can be presented through the following formula.

$$Z_i = f_i(x_i, T_i) \tag{1}$$

The most important part of this equation is time (T). Since market goods are acquired mainly through labour, there is a high level of 'substitutability' between time and market goods. Furthermore, as the consumption unit – in the early modern context the household – only has a limited amount of time, the household will allocate this across three main categories, which can be presented through formula
(2): Labour dedicated to acquisition of market goods (T_w) , labour retained within the household to transform market goods into Z-Commodities (T_c) , and leisure time (T_r) , during which to consume these commodities.

$$T = T_c + T_w + T_r \tag{2}$$

According to de Vries (2008), the introduction of a new consumption culture during the late seventeenth century focused on comfort and replicability – rather than an older consumption culture of ostentatious presentations of wealth – led to a general re-interpretation of Z-commodities and a subsequent surge in demand for consumer goods only available through the market. Spurred by the introduction of cheap, easily replaceable fashion items and novel consumables – such as cheap earthenware and porcelain, printed calico, and colonial hot drinks such as tea and coffee – this incentivised households to reallocate productive resources – i.e. time – away from within-household production (T_c) and leisure (T_r) towards marketoriented labour (T_w). The process of increasing productivity through this marketoriented labour was two-fold: Through increased specialisation and a shift in household interaction with the market from a way of supplementing household production to the basis of the household economy, and; through an increase in general working time, both through a sacrifice of leisure and through a real lengthening of the working year through the systematic abolishment of many – or as in the case for protestant countries all – saint's days.

This reallocation of household productive capacity to market-oriented labour – especially the general increase in working time – according to the theory sufficiently counteracted the decreasing real wages during the period to not only sustain earlier levels of consumption standards, but also allowed households to increase their consumption by acquiring these new fast-fashion goods that were being introduced to the market. The consequence is a sort of industrious ratchet effect: As workers get used to a higher standard of living and consumption regime that – as incomes stagnate and food prices increase – only becomes feasible through an increased labour allocation, they will accept higher labour burdens rather than a reduction in standards (de Vries 2008: 115). This process then subsequently drives the industrious revolution, and – by extension – lays the groundwork for the subsequent industrial revolution.

Since publication, the theory has inspired a new wave of research about the early modern household economy, the allocation of its productive resources, the organization of work and structure of the working year, and how these production-side developments corelate to contemporary changes in household consumer behaviour and the introduction of new goods to the household. However, the theory is not without critique as its focus on market specialization driven by demand for –

especially – colonial goods appear to be little applicable on regions outside the urban Low Countries.¹⁴

One of the earlier – and harshest – critiques of the theory was economic historian Sheilagh Ogilvie (2003, 2010), who raised the issue of the undue focus on the English and Low Country miracle economies by the proponents of the Industrious and Consumer Revolutions. These regions, with their uniquely market-oriented institutions are poor representatives for the everyday realities of most of the early modern European population, such as southern Germany were Ogilvie argues that "institutionalized 'social capital' thus restricted the incentive and capacity – particularly of women and lower-status males – to allocate more time to market work, and thus to power an Industrious Revolution on the Dutch or English model" (2010:321). These more peripheral regions, she argues, due to their institutional restrictions failed to materialize the type of demand-driven economic growth characterized by the industrious revolution prior to the industrial revolution of the nineteenth century.

Similarly, Rosenband (2016), based on his research of the eighteenth-century French and English papermaking industries, challenges the universality of the theory. Rather than increasing their market-participation and labour intensity during the period, he argues that papermaking workers and their families were engaged in wage-labour – and toiled long hours doing so – already by the early seventeenth century. For this industry, he argues, it was the absence of an industrious revolution that led to technological shifts and industrialisation, rather than any increase in the – already significant – demand.

Most of the critique of the industrious revolution, however, are not as harsh: Though most historians reject the claim of an industrious revolution driven by a demand for new consumer goods, they do agree that a – general – increase in industriousness appears to have occurred during the period. Throughout Europe, labourers – both urban and rural – during the late seventeenth and eighteenth centuries increased their labour intensity – through an increase in working time and the labour input of women and children – and their market-oriented labour. However, instead of specialisation, these household more often diversified their incomes through an increase in pluri-activity; they did more wage work for neighbours and strangers, and they acquired tools to partake in proto-industrial production which was less seasonably bound than traditional agricultural work. While this increased industriousness did allow labourers to exchange an older consumption regime of leisure with one of increased consumption, it remained contested, with increased consumer-demand a secondary effect rather than a driving force for change (Hatcher 1998). Instead, this industriousness was driven by the harsh economic realities of

¹⁴ The theory as presented by de Vries does, however, seem to be accepted as pretty well applicable to the urban and economically progressive Low Countries (van Nederveen Meerkerk 2008; Ryckbosch 2015).

the period, as a necessary reaction in order to survive and sustain previous standards of consumption in the face of economic hardship and decreasing real wages (Allen & Weisdorf 2011; Dribe & van de Putte 2012; Gary & Olsson 2020; Horrell, Humphries, & Weisdorf 2021; Malanima & Pinchera 2012; Muldrew 2011; Overton et al. 2004).

However, as Rosenband (2016:237f) discusses at the end of his critique of the theory, it even if the theory of the industrious revolution as initially presented by de Vries does not hold up to close and universal historical scrutiny, it is immensely useful as a call for new creative research and reconsiderations of previously established truths. Indeed, despite the critique levelled at it, it does seem to be undeniable that household consumption and material living standards did increase across Europe during the eighteenth century – and even earlier in rural England and the Low Countries. Thus, even though the causality between increased industriousness and increased consumption outside of the urban and progressive Low Countries during the period might not have been as de Vries first imagined it, the general trend that is instead presented – a concurrent development of a more market-oriented household production and household consumption towards more diversified homes focused on comfortable and fashionable consumption - does appear to be applicable throughout most of eighteenth century Europe (Bovenkerk & Fertig 2022; Hutchison 2014; Mas-Ferrer 2020; Overton et al. 2004; Ronsijn 2013; Van de Sompele 2021).

3.2. Markets and market development

One of the central arguments in de Vries' theory is that households increased their share of labour and production allocated to the market in order to acquire cash – or credit – with which they could acquire goods only available through the market. For them to be able to do so, there must have existed both a labour market big enough to meet the demand for wage work, and a market for goods developed and well-connected enough to carry the coveted novel consumer goods.¹⁵ In this section, I will further discuss the impact of the market, market development during the early modern period, and how the early modern household would have interacted with the market.

Though self-sufficiency was likely the goal for most early modern rural producers, since at least the medieval period that goal had been far out of reach for almost everyone but the largest rural estates (Heckscher 1936; Isacson 1979; Weatherill

¹⁵ Markets in this dissertation are understood as social arenas of exchange – either of goods, such as the grain market, or of services, such as the labour market. As such, they are subjected to the same institutional restrictions as society as a whole, and largely follows the same social norms and regulations.

1988; Vardi 1993; Warde 2006; Lindström 2008; Ronsijn 2013; Ågren 2017). Instead, households had to rely on local markets to supply them with those goods which they could not produce themselves, be they textiles, tools, dinnerware, furniture, or even food, as the case for households with little or no access to land. This reliance on markets to acquire base necessities allowed households to increase their productivity through specialisation, either in crafts through the acquisition of artisanal skills or in agricultural production through the acquisition of ever larger landholdings. Due to the issue of matching service to buyer, specialisation generally requires a relatively high level of population density, resulting in an accumulation of these specialists – artisans and merchants – in towns (Smith 1776; Braudel 1986). Ever since the publication of Smith's influential *Wealth of Nations* in 1776, there has been a tradition of viewing specialised markets as the drivers of economic development (Bateman 2016), though this has come under challenge stressing more diverse as well as institutional explanations (Braudel 1986).

Throughout the early modern period, access to the market and the transfer of goods was organised mainly through urban merchants, as these possessed the necessary equipment – mainly ships – and connections – both personal and professional – to facilitate the transfer of goods between regions (Braudel 1986; Marczinek, Maurer, & Rauch 2022). Through the expansion of trade networks and intensification of colonial trade, these merchants facilitated a decrease in price and increase in the circulation of goods during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, which likely contributed to the increase in material standards over the period (Smith 1776; Béaur 2021). While urban consumers due to their geographical proximity would have had direct access to these merchants, only some rural consumers enjoyed unmediated access to urban markets; for most this access was handled by a local middleman, most commonly a large landowner or priest (Hanssen 1952; Ronsijn 2013).

Due to the agglomeration of merchants into towns, these would have functioned as nodes for local distribution of consumer goods and practices. Goods and novel consumer practices – such as drinking of tea or new fashions in clothing and furniture – would be imported first to the town by local merchants, and from there spread to the surrounding countryside through the interaction between urban and rural consumers (van Koolbergen 1983; Béaur 2021; Servais 2014). However, it is important to recognize that this process of diffusion was more dependent on access to merchants than any particular virtue inherent to the towns themselves, as exemplified by the low impact that towns had in early modern Chesapeake where rural planters had direct, unmediated access to foreign merchants (Green Carr & Walsh 1994).

For rural smallholders and landless labourers – often less diversified in their household production than large landholders – mediated market access through larger producers could often be used to shield the household from market fluctuations. Most importantly volatile grain prices, which during years of bad harvests would increase at a significantly higher rate than daily cash wages. Even in

relatively cash-rich societies of the period, most of the rural locally restricted market exchange – that between large landholders and their dependents – would have been either in kind – in the form of food – or in the form of credit (Ronsijn 2013; Lindström & Mispelaere 2015, 2016). Through such in-kind and credit contracts, these labourers could transfer the worst risks of the markets to the larger producers and guarantee themselves at least existence minimum; no matter the current price or availability of grain the large landholder still required wage labour to tend the fields.

More economically diversified households would have had less need for mediated market access, as they instead shielded themselves from market fluctuations through multiple different contact points by combining agricultural production with seasonal wage work and textile production (Gullickson 1986; Warde 2006). Indeed, contrary to the virtues of specialisation espoused by economic thinkers like Adam Smith, this redundancy inherent in diversification likely better allowed these early modern households to secure a stable wealth surplus that could be invested in better living standards (Keibek & Shaw-Taylor 2013; Van de Sompele 2021).

A majority of – especially rural – producers throughout Europe would likely have pursued a risk-averse production strategy; full market reliance would have been uncommon, and mostly pursued if deemed secure. Even large agricultural producers would consistently choose to first cover their own subsistence needs – including that of paying their dependents for wage work – before dedicating any surplus to the market (Gullickson 1986; Vardi 1993; Ronsijn 2013).

Lastly, for households seeking to improve their material conditions through manufactured goods it is important to remember that for every non-consumable good there existed during the early modern period not one market, but two: one for new manufactures and one for second-hand versions of the same good, available at significantly reduced prices (Roche 2000; McCants 2007; Murhem, Ulväng, & Lilja 2010; Stobart & Van Damme 2010; Mas-Ferrer 2023b). Through the secondary market – either pawnbrokers, common in England and on the continent, or auctions, its probably most common form – even poorer households could acquire novel consumers goods and partake of certain fashionable consumption otherwise not affordable to them. Though second-hand often entailed poorer quality, or even damaged goods, there are plenty of evidence that suggests that this was preferable to the alternative of not having these goods at all. As such partaking in the second-hand market was common throughout the early modern populace, no matter socio-economic status (McCants 2008; Murhem, Ulväng, & Lilja 2010; Stobart & Van Damme 2010).

4.Data

This dissertation is based almost exclusively on data from 3250 Swedish probate records, collected and compiled into the *South-Sweden Probate Inventory Database*, *1570-1860*, which have been made publicly available through the economic history department webpage. The probate records were complemented using parish registers – especially the death books – to identify the age at death as well as correcting the data on occupational title. For the last paper in the dissertation, "Goods to rural markets: the effect of markets on household access to goods in southern Sweden during the late eighteenth century", the probate inventories were also supplemented with data on inter-regional trade flows – represented by ships per year arriving in the different towns in Scania and Halland – taken from the sound toll registers online and the Malmö harbour toll books. For 1751 and 1792 I had access to full transcriptions of the toll books for domestic ships arriving in Malmö, collected and organized by Anna Missiaia and Patrick Svensson and graciously shared with me for the paper.

This section will firstly discuss the probate inventories, some common source criticism issues regarding the inventories as a historical source material, and how they were sampled for the two databases. Following this a short discussion on the parish registers which were used to complement the inventories, and then a longer section on some of the unique issues related to the pre-1734 inventories. Lastly it ends with a discussion on the data on ship movements used for the last paper, and especially the potential issues identified with the sound toll registers.

4.1. Probate inventories

The new law of 1734 made it mandatory to draw up a probate inventory of the household belongings after the death of either spouse.¹⁶ According to the law, these inventories were to include all movable and immovable possessions, as well as both in- and outgoing debts, to facilitate a smooth division of the estate and guarantee payment to credit. In the towns, the role of assessor of the estate was undertaken by a town notary; on the countryside this was instead done by the local *nämndemän*

¹⁶ Sveriges Rikes Lag, Gillad och antagen på Riksdagen åhr 1734. Ärfde Balken, chapter IX, §1.

(trustees) elected from and by the local peasants at the district courts (Lindgren 2002; *Sveriges Rikes Lag 1734*). However, even if the law came into effect already in 1734, it took until mid-century before the practice becomes common enough that we have surviving records in any substantial numbers – and even further until a majority of all deceased got an inventory compiled after death (Gadd 1983; Kuuse 1974; Lindgren 2002; Markkanen 1978).

Probate inventories are a veritable goldmine for information on historical household wealth and consumption, and oftentimes the only way to ascertain the ownership and spread of certain goods and objects. However, they are – as is the case of all historical sources – far from a perfect source material. From a source critical standpoint, probate records have three main issues: the issue of representability, the fact that the inventories by definition represent a snapshot of the end of the lifecycle of the household, and the issue of possible omissions.

Inventarium andsarkivet i Lund

Picture 2. The Cattle belonging to Per Larsson in Göstorp, Veine parish, 1699. Apart from the individual valuation, the colouration, whether male or female, as well as age of the cattle is provided in order to differentiate between animals during evaluation and division.

Since the inventory is a record of household possessions and wealth whose purpose is to facilitate the division of the estate between heirs, drawing one up should mainly have been in the interest of more affluent households in possession of enough wealth and possessions to make the procedure of drawing up an inventory worth the time and expense. Poor households would not have been incentivised to draw up inventories after the death of a spouse – simply because there was nothing worthwhile to divide – and as such more affluent and well-to-do households should be overrepresented among the records (Gadd 1983; Keibek & Shaw-Taylor 2013; Lindert 1981). Furthermore, as probate records by design is drawn up only after death, it should furthermore overrepresent an older subsection of society (Di Matteo 1997; Lindgren 2002); barring sudden injury or illness, death tends to mainly affect the more elderly.

Neither of these problems are insurmountable, if the aim is to achieve a representative sample. If either the age or wealth distribution of the sampled society is known beforehand, then the results can effectively be weighed to – at least to an extent – counteract the source bias. This method, among others suggested by Peter H. Lindert (1981) already in the eighties, has been used in previous research to good success, for example by Lindgren (2002) who age-adjusted the credit values to analyse the late nineteenth-century credit marker, and by Bengtsson, Olsson, & Svensson (2022) who weighed the probated wealth against social tables for early eighteenth-century Stockholm to analyse the economic inequality of the town. However, the method is most useful when the goal of the study is to identify a distribution of something across society, usually wealth. For identifying the presence of goods or consumption practices – the purpose of the studies that are part of this dissertation – the issue becomes less to balance the results to synthesize a better representation, than to identify the extent of the misrepresentation in the material, and temper the analysis to match.

Unlike in many other parts of Europe – or indeed the world, since historical probate inventories can be found also in the Ottoman empire, as well as in feudal Japan – probate records were after the 1734 law reform universally mandatory in Sweden. However, as mentioned this does not mean that the surviving material is perfectly representative; it is for example well known among historians utilising probate records that there is a conspicuous absence in the sources of the destitute, who left no inheritable wealth to record, divide, or sell to pay any potential creditors (Gadd 1983; Kuuse 1974; Lindert 1981; Lindgren 2002; Osberg & Siddiq 1988). While the probate inventory did function as the basis for a part of the municipal tax collection as well as the medium through which assets were valued to pay outstanding debts, the assessors and notaries responsible for the process were usual practical people that understood that the process in some cases were pointless. Furthermore, as the presence of a probate inventory would relieve heirs of the responsibility to pay the debts of their parents – given that debtors were paid before the division and the heirs relieved themselves of the right of inheritance – heirs could

– and often did – request exception from probate on the ground that the estate lacked assets (Jónsson 2016; Lindgren 2002; *Sveriges Rikes Lag 1734*).¹⁷

It is a much-debated issue that the frequency of probation in Sweden before the late eighteenth century – or even early nineteenth century in some places – was extremely poor. In one of the more extreme examples, Isacson (1979: 211) in his study of By parish in central Sweden found a probation rate of only 1,6% for the period 1740-60, which has increased to only 8,5% in 1790-1820. However, not every region has so few surviving inventories, but rather it seems like the probate frequency in many parts of Sweden around 1750 were around 20-25% (Gadd 1983; Kuuse 1974). As can be seen in table 2 for the late eighteenth century this region too appears to boast a similar probate frequency, between 20 and 35%, which increases to 45-68% in the mid-nineteenth century, with significant regional differences.

	1780			1859/1860				
	Dead Over 10	All married Dead	Nr probated ^a	Probation rate	Dead Over 10	Dead Over 25	Nr probated ^a	Probation rate
Halland	188	153	53	28-35%	237	202	138	58-68%
Kristianstad	227	164	50	22-30%	334	293	183	55-62%
Malmöhus	380	249	73	19-29%	981	833	446	45-54%

 Table 2. Probate Frequency in sampled parishes, aggregated on district level

a. Total number of probated individuals for 1860 include every individual with a probate record in the archived volue, rather than just those sampled for the study.

Note: Due to lack of mortality data for 1860, mortality for 1859 and probation frequency for 1860 has been used. Only calculated on sampled parishes for which both probated individuals and mortality data exists. Nobles are excluded from the 1859 mortality data, as these are not included in the probate data. Source: Tabellverket på Nätet, Umeå Universitet; Probate inventories collected from twelve district.

Unfortunately, we lack good and accessible mortality data for the earliest of the analysed periods, 1670-1720. Based on the very high share of probated rural priests -6,4% of probated households – compared to their otherwise very low share of the total population – about 1% – it should be safe to assume that the probate frequency was both low and skewed in favour for more affluent households during this earlier period. However, 82% of probated individuals from the same period can with some certainty be assumed to have been peasants, based on a combination of recorded

¹⁷ A good example for this is the sampled probate inventory of former Landwehr Emanuel Fredrik Henning, who died in Ystad in 1867 with a probated gross wealth of zero. According to his inventory, as submitted by his son, he left "no estate but his worn out clothes, of so poor condition as to be of no value whatsoever" ("*icke efterlemnat annan qvarlåtenskap än sine utslitne dagliga gångkläder, som woro af så dålig beskaffenhet, att de icke kunde åsättas något värde.*"). Ystads rådhusrätt och magistrat (M) FII:52 (1860-1870) Bild 6080 (AID: v160250.b6080, NAD: SE/LLA/10214)

titles and the composition of the household goods. Furthermore, the very wide range of wealth levels for these earliest inventoried peasant households – spanning from 15 daler silver, roughly the cost of three cows, to over a thousand daler silver for the wealthiest of the peasants – suggests that individuals would not necessarily be excluded from having an inventory solely based on being poor, even before probate inventories becoming legally mandatory.

Surviving inventories are throughout Europe generally biased in which groups are represented, skewing greatly in favour for more capital-strong groups – be it economic, cultural, or social. Across Europe, labourers and the landless are, even when taking their relatively lower wealth-levels into account, greatly underrepresented – though this decreases drastically over the nineteenth century – while priests and merchants are severely overrepresented (Gadd 1983; Isacson 1979; Lindert 1981; Muldrew 2011; Overton et al. 2004). This skewed representation together with the very low probate frequency prior to the nineteenth century leads to a relatively low number of inventories belonging to, so to speak, common people. However, paraphrasing Muldrew's (2011: 13) argument for his study of English labourers: given the sheer number of inventories which has survived, the absolute number of inventories is still large enough to provide a statistically significant sample.

		Priests	Peasants	Commoners of rank	Rural labourers	Retirees
Halland	Tabellverket	0,4%	56,7%	0,4%	32,6%	10,0%
	Probate records	1,0%	63,0%	1,5%	22,0%	12,5%
	Congruity	2,8	1,1	3,9	0,7	1,2
Kristianstad	Tabellverket	0,6%	49,1%	0,6%	41,6%	8,1%
	Probate records	0,5%	56,6%	4,2%	37,7%	0,9%
	Congruity	0,8	1,2	6,6	0,9	0,1
Malmöhus	Tabellverket	0,6%	41,5%	0,9%	52,4%	4,5%
	Probate records	0,9%	63,8%	2,6%	30,6%	2,2%
	Congruity	1,4	1,5	2,9	0,6	0,5

 Table 3. Representativity of the Sample on the countryside, 1780-85

Note: Only calculated on sampled parishes for which both probated individuals and mortality data exists. Source: Tabellverket på Nätet, Umeå Universitet; Probate inventories collected from twelve district.

When looking more closely at the comparison between the probate records and the socio-economic composition of society, as noted in the censuses, we can

furthermore see that the discrepancy in southern Sweden is far less severe than could be expected. Unfortunately, of the three analysed periods the 1780s census is the only one for which this comparison is possible due to the later period lacking a clear distinction between landed peasants and rural labourers. In table 3, the composition of the rural population as presented by contemporary censuses was compared with the composition of inventoried households; a congruity of 1 denotes a perfect match between the two sources, while a value higher than 1 indicates that the group is overrepresented in the probate material. As can be seen, the peasant and labouring groups are generally well represented in most of the analysed region, with a slightly more significant discrepancy in the Malmöhus parishes. Commoners of rank – so called *ofrälse ståndpersoner* – on the other hand greatly are overrepresented, as should be expected due to their generally higher levels of capital. What is more interesting is the large under-representation of retirees.

Despite its many shortcomings regarding the level of representation, the Swedish probate material still appears to be mostly comparable to – and in some extent better than – similar material from other regions in Europe (Bovenkerk & Fertig 2022: Mas-Ferrer 2023b; Overton et al 2004), apart from the fact that they in Sweden become significantly more bountiful during the period when they in England start to disappear (Keibek & Shaw-Taylor 2013). The ample presence of households from every social and economic group suggests that factors other than just household wealth appears to have been important for whether any individual inventory is available today; whether the inventory was successfully submitted to a court archive (Isacson 1979), or whether said archive or collection has survived to the modern day.¹⁸ Similarly, the age at death-distribution among the probated individuals in southern Sweden does not appear to skew as old as most historians seem to assume – at least not before the mid nineteenth century. Surprisingly, there appear to be more in favour of the probated individuals being of a somewhat lower average age at death than the population as a whole – if you exclude infant and early child mortality and only count individuals who survived to the age of 15^{19} – than for the opposite; the average age at death for the individuals in the dataset is about 54, while for the population as a whole during the same period is between 55 - for men - and 58 - for women (SCB 1999).

¹⁸ A good example is the Halmstad town probate inventories from before 1820, which were lost when the town hall burned down in 1880. Similarly is the missing inventory of Sören Sörensson, mayor of Falkenberg between 1730 and his death at some point in the 1750s, who at his death was one of the wealthiest individuals in the town; the inventory of his wife, who died about a decade later, is present.

¹⁹ The extremely high share of infant – as well as early life – mortality prior to the middle of the twentieth century skews the age at death-statistics to such an extent as to make it mostly useless. Instead, historians of the period prior to the twentieth-century decrease in childhood mortality should calculate average age at death either only on individuals who reached adulthood – about 15 for the early modern period – or those who survived early childhood – about 5.

Another issue with probate inventories as sources for household consumption is the fact that they, by the nature of the medium and the circumstances of how they are drawn up, represent only a snapshot at the end of the life of the individual. The inventories can only be used to measure stocks of goods - i.e. the sum total of belongings at a single point in time – rather than flows – i.e. the everyday reality of consumption, gifting, breaking and replacing of items that occurs over a lifetime (Bedell 2000; Malanima & Pinchero 2012). As such, while historians can utilise the goods recorded in the probate inventory to present general trends of consumption – such as finding porcelain significantly more common at the end of the eighteenth century than at the beginning of it - we cannot draw any specific conclusions on how these household acquired these - whether consumed on the market for full price, second-hand through auctions, or inherited from deceased parents. While it is easy to interpret the rising stocks of consumer goods found in the eighteenth-century probate records – during a period of otherwise decreasing real wages and rising grain prices – as a sign of industriousness, since the objects in probate inventories are non-perishables, it is just as likely that these goods were simply acquired during good years of momentary surplus (Malanima & Pinchero 2012). Similarly, decreasing costs of manufactured goods during the eighteenth century combined with greater access to second-hand markets might have depreciated prices enough to make these widely affordable despite the poor economy of the labouring classes, even without an increase in industriousness during the period (Mas-Ferrer 2020).

The last main issue with probate inventories is the case of omissions. While the inventory, technically, is supposed to be a complete inventory of the possessions of the individual, the reality is that we as historians can never know whether this is the case or not, due to several different limiting factors. Firstly the assessors, as well as the heirs, would mainly have been interested in items of value, meaning that objects that were damaged, broken, or just generally of limited or no monetary value – such as knitting needles, footstools, the so-called "bed bugs board" (*lusbräda*)²⁰, and even chickens – would be missing from the inventory (Adamson 2009).

Secondly, in regions where the probated estate were the subject of a percentage tax – such as in Sweden, post 1734 – there exists an incentive for households to circumvent the official post-death inventories and division by gifting away objects before death, in which case they no longer belongs to the household of the deceased and thus will not be recorded, valued, and taxed. These types of inter vivos transfers would have been most common among the wealthier households – who would have been liable to higher taxes – and would have mostly encompassed smaller high-value objects – such as jewellery, clothes, and books – which would have been easy to inconspicuously remove from the household prior to death (Bringéus 1974;

²⁰ A small wooden board perforated with small holes meant to trap bed bugs travelling between the bed and the wall. Examples can be found in several museums throughout Sweden, usually dated to late eighteenth and early nineteenth century: https://digitaltmuseum.se/011023665653/lusbrada

Lindert 1981). There are signs in the Swedish probate records that assessors were aware of this problem, and might have taken some steps to counteract – or at least include – this; several inventories include notes such as "gifted to the children before death" next to the recorded clothes, sometimes even with a value that would be included in the household total.

Furthermore, objects belonging solely to other individuals than the deceased would not be included in the inventory. While the probate inventory in general is a record of the *household* possessions owned by the household as a social and economic unit, some items appear to have been strictly personal. This would mostly only include clothes and jewellery, which explains why the inventories clothes always explicitly belongs to the deceased and very seldomly their spouse. Other personal items might have been included in this category, such as books, pieces of art, watches, and tobacco accessories. Children's toys would likely also have been personal belongings, which would explain their almost complete and conspicuous absence within probate inventories, since children would not be probated (Adamson 2009). Apart from this it is likely that some property – most notably the household pets – might not have been considered as anyone's possessions, since these too are – as a rule – never found in inventories.

These issues are by no means unsurmountable, and apart from the aforementioned checking so that the collected sample does not suffer any severe age bias we took several different countermeasures when gathering and analysing the data to get around these source issues. The first of these is the scale of the sample; even if some of the sampled inventories might not be perfectly representative of a contemporary household – such as missing objects gifted away before death, or belonging to considerably younger or older individuals – the large number of sampled households should average out all these discrepancies. Similarly, the wide geographical spread should help counteract any geographically specific issues, such as biased or inexperienced assessors – at least on the countryside where these were elected on the district level.

Secondly, the articles that are a part of this dissertation is mainly focusing on what is found in the inventories, and treating this as a lower limit base for assumptions – assuming that individuals consciously embellishing their upcoming inventory by purchasing status objects shortly before death is an uncommon occurrence.²¹ Similarly, the stock versus flow-issue is acknowledged by only analysing the inventories as presentations of a stock of goods at several distinct points in time, with the focus instead being on the development of these stocks between these

²¹ This issue is raised by Bringéus (1977:10f), who retells anecdotes of elderly individuals acquiring large quantities of linen and silver goods shortly before their death with the express purpose that their probate inventory – and by extension their legacy – would look better when submitted to the courts. No sampled inventory shows signs of this custom, which should express itself by an uncommonly large collection of objects in silver, gold, or pewter in relation to household wealth.

points. That these objects are present in the inventory means that the household at some point in the past acquired it; whether through inheritance or purchase – either first or second hand – is not as important as the implication of households owning a specific object that was uncommon – or even completely absent – among households in the area just 60 years prior. As such, focus is shifted from the inventory as a source of individual household consumption to a source of societal consumption patterns.

Lastly the papers in the dissertation acknowledges that the source material is biased in favour for more affluent households, and structures the analysis to compensate. The division of the sampled households into wealth groups – common in studies of historical consumption using probate inventories (Blondé & Van Damme 2010; Ulväng 2021) – is both a way of acknowledging that wealth has a major impact on consumption (Shammas 1990), and a way to identify and isolate the poorer households that otherwise would be lost in the average. The absolute destitute unfortunately remains out of reach; to analyse the possessions – however meagre, – daily consumption, and daily work of this group a whole other type of source in necessary.

4.1.1. Complementary data

Since the probate records do not record the age at death of the probated individuals, this data had to be collected from elsewhere. To do so, the sampled individuals were linked to the parish death books, using the available information on name, place of living, date of death, and surviving family members – spouse and possible children – presented in the preamble to the inventory. For the rural probate records, this meant going through the parish books from around 160 different parish church archives – a feat only made possible through these being accessible digitally through Arkiv Digital.²² As the urban probate records, unlike the rural ones, does not record the church (parish) that the deceased belonged to, linking these individuals – at least those for Malmö which had three churches,²³ and Ystad which had two – also necessitated identifying which of the town parishes the deceased belonged to, but was helped by the higher number of occupational titles which helped differentiate people of similar names.

²² I am very thankful to my co-supervisor, Mats Olsson, who, due to an oversight on my own part, undertook the arduous and time-consuming task of linking the lion share of the sampled rural population to the parish registers.

²³ One of these churches in Malmö was the garrison church, which only served the town soldiers and officers. Both the other two lacked proper geographical or social boundaries within the town – apart from Caroli town parish originally being the local German church – and thus there were no clear demarcation of who might belong to which church.

In some cases, it was furthermore found that the title of deceased differed between the probate records and the parish books; either that the probate record lacked a proper occupational title, or that the parish death book presented a more detailed title – such as adding the prefix "former" to craftsmen in the town. In these cases, the title presented in the parish register took precedence; the priest – who would have been responsible for filling out the parish registers – would most likely have been more familiar with the deceased. As such he would have been more likely to record the correct information than the assessors who usually would have been strangers – on the countryside likely not even from the same parish – and thus reliant on the information of the surviving spouse or children, who might have wanted to embellish the status of the deceased for the official court record.

4.1.2. Probate records from before 1734

As previously mentioned, one of the greatest contributions of the dissertation and research project it is connected to is the broad and large-scale sampling of pre-1734 probate inventories. These particular probate inventories, however, presents different problems than those from later periods. Before the enactment of the law making probate inventories legally mandatory in 1734, drawing up a probate inventory after death was a local custom – possibly mandated by local town laws – subject to local traditions and the necessities of the relatives, rather than a standardized legal process.

The south-Swedish regions that belonged to Denmark prior to the peace of Roskilde in 1658 appears to have had a significantly older and more established tradition of probate records than the rest of the country, due to the medieval legal tradition of Denmark (Bringéus 1977; Jónsson 2016). While this means that this region has a significant number of inventories from far earlier than most of the rest of Sweden, it also means that they are not as standardized as they will later become; with only local custom based on the local inheritance law – which did not mandate written probates (Jónsson 2016) – to back up their use, it is unfortunately unclear how representative these documents are. Though it is difficult to draw definite conclusions based simply on the surviving material – especially with the lack of written complementary material such as guidelines to assessors – there are some general trends in the pre-1734 inventories – especially the obligatory preambles – as well as the inheritance laws of the time that can give us some hints to their practice.

While Danish inheritance laws from the medieval period and later did not mandate the drawing up of an inventory, the law was written as to protect the right of heirs – especially minors put under guardianship – as well as guarantee the payment of debts. Furthermore, in those instances when inventories were drawn up, the Danish law prioritized inventories after deceased men rather than women as a way to enforce the undivided partition of the male property to his heirs un-altered by the widow. Unlike what became mandated in Sweden later – as well as in Denmark in 1664, six years after the sampled regions were given over to Sweden – in no cases were the relatives of the deceased obligated to register any written documentation with the local authorities for future reference (Jónsson 2016). Thus, every single surviving probate inventory from before 1734 must have been an active decision on the part of the surviving relatives.

The decision to draw up a probate inventory would have been affected by several different factors. It is likely that it would have been incentivized in cases where the estate would have been contested between several heirs, or when the estate had significant amount of debt and there was significant risk for the courts to become involved. In these cases – as they became later – a written inventory would have acted as a legal document that could support the claims of the inheritors – whether the claim concerned the practical division of the estate or the proper payment of creditors (Jónsson 2016). According to the later legislation of 1734 – which likely was a formalization of earlier practices – heirs who waived their right to the estate would be freed from the obligations of its debts, and since debtors commonly were paid from the estate before it was divided a written probate inventory could protect the heirs from the debts of their parents should these supersede the value of the estate.

Since contemporary praxis encouraged inventories as a way to guard the possessions of minors against the miss-use by guardians and widows, and only estates of certain values would have been contested in court, it can be assumed that surviving inventories from this period are biased to represent a relatively more affluent and economically active part of the population. Testing this hypothesis is more difficult, though.

Unfortunately, due to an absence of surviving complementary sources for this first period the attempt to link the probated individuals to parish death books only successfully identified the age at death for 16% of the sampled rural and 34% of urban individuals, which means that the potential age bias for these probates is difficult to ascertain. Based on the 80 individuals for who age at death is known, both the mean and median age at death is 49,5 years. While this does suggest no clear old-age bias, the sample is too small to be properly representative. However, since one of the main rationales behind drawing up a written inventory during the period was to protect the inheritance of minor children the inventory preamble consistently includes information on the heirs of the deceased – with special emphasis on the presence of minors under guardianship, including information of the age of these children, such as in picture 3. Thus, while we often don't have the age of around 18-20 – the most common cut-off point for when age stopped being noted down for children – or lower.

Youghurafram og Rig will hottanth pir the adaganere gois Trammore ford Jocobfrom, much Longe May the Bring: Just Jorobyton and getter folm Shers Noturius immafter 100; from whiteweight att afor 200 0)-9. Noveril: work way affor stanling beginnen 2 Canfor Molling Till all Biller for grighing waring when Is ming and Blifte + Alow Junio " Turna Japob sotter, finillien Jours who love Anni ? Dottor Villa Plant abelion " "Handing Manchen

Picture 3. The preamble for the inventory of the wife Karna Persdotter (d. 1680) in Ystad, including information on the name and title of her husband, the name and age of their daughter (Sissa Persdotter, aged 9), the date that the inventory was made, and the name of the assessors.

We coded a relative household age based on the preamble describing all children as being minors (defined as 18 years or younger based on the cut-off point for when children's ages stop being recorded), being of both legal age and minors, of only legal age, or the household having no children. Using this information it was possible to roughly determine the position of the household in the household life cycle. Based on the average age at first marriage – and subsequent first child within a year afterwards – in Scania during the period being 34,3 years for men and 29,1 for women (Lundh 1997), heads of household with all children being minors should be – on average – between 30 and 55 years old. Even with an approximate five-year margin of error in either direction – and assuming that the first child survived to adult age – this should place this group pretty firmly in the young- to peak-family household life cycle stages – as identified by Horrell, Humphries, and Weisdorf

 $(2021)^{24}$ for England during the early modern period – during which time the household generally is the most active.

The individuals for whom we have an established age at death can be used to check the validity to this hypothesis. While the average age at first marriage decreases in Sweden over the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, it does so very gradually – with only about four years – until after the breakthrough of industrialization and acceleration of urban migration after around 1860 (Lundh 1997). Furthermore, the evidence of a clear presence of life-cycle squeezes in early nineteenth century Swedish towns presented by Lilja and Bäcklund (2013) suggests both a similar situation in Sweden as is England, and a stability of the household life-cycle over the early modern period that should allow us to safely extrapolate the general trends we can identify backwards onto the pre-1734 period.

Tuble 4.	able 4. Age distribution for nedschold age categories							
	no children	minors	minors and legal age	all legal age	total			
20-30	86	105	0	0	191			
31-40	65	259	8	2	334			
41-50	91	240	82	7	420			
51-60	101	111	152	87	451			
61+	148	48	158	450	804			
Total	491	763	401	545	2200			

Table 4. Age distribution for household age categories

Source: Probate inventories collected from twelve district and three town archives, church and parish records collected from 167 parish archives, collected into a unified database.

As can be seen in Table 4, it does seem like a general trend that individuals whose children are all legal minors are indeed significantly younger than those with at least one adult child, placing the absolute majority of them safely within either the young or peak household life-cycle stages. As should be expected the age at death then continuously increase with the age of the children; in households with all children being over the age of 18 - i.e. at the point where their ages are usually no longer recorded in the preamble – the absolute majority of probated individuals are aged 61 years or older, putting them firmly in the post-family and old age life-cycle stages.

²⁴ Horrell, Humphries, & Weisdorf (2021) defined the different household life-cycle stages for England, for which they divided the life of an individual into six distinct life-cycle staged: youth between ages 15 to 25, the young family stage from 25 to 35, peak family stage from 35 to 45, old family stage from 45 to 55, post-family stage from 55-65, and finally old age from 65 until death. Since the mean age at first marriage was significantly lower in England than in Sweden – around 26 in England contra 32 in Sweden, if no difference is made for gender (Hajnal 1965; Lundh 1997; Goldstone 2010) – all of these spans, apart from the start of youth, can safely be increased by 5 years when applied to Swedish circumstances.

Based on this division on household age based on the relative age of the children of the deceased, presented in table 5, we can determine that there does not appear to exist any unique source bias concerning the age of the deceased for the first period. The remarkably similar distribution – with an especially large share of relatively younger households with only minor children – suggests that no major shifts in the probate practices occurred over the eighteenth century, apart from them becoming mandatory and thus more common.

	-1720		1780s		1860s		
	Number	Share	Number	Share	Number	Share	
All minors	337	40%	386	39%	373	31%	
Minors and legal age	146	17%	195	20%	213	17%	
All legal age	182	22%	201	20%	366	30%	
No children	181	21%	207	21%	270	22%	

Table 5. Household age distribution

Source: Probate inventories collected from twelve district and three town archives, church and parish records collected from 167 parish archives, collected into a unified database.

While this likely over-representation of a younger strata of the population appears to confirm that the probate records are somewhat biased to more economically active households, this over-representation does not appear as severe as could be expected. Whether they are biased towards more affluent households, however, is harder to ascertain. Surviving tax records from the late seventeenth century are generally scarce, and probate inventories are one of the main ways to calculate household wealth and wealth inequality during the early modern period. As such, the necessary comparison against which to measure a potential wealth bias is largely missing. The safest assumption in this case – based on our knowledge of the custom of probate inventories prior to 1734 – is that there should exist a wealth bias for this period, with a generally wealthier section of the populace more likely to have a surviving inventory.

This potential bias needs to be taken into consideration when drawing conclusions for the eighteenth-century development, least we risk overstating developments such as the decrease in cattle ownership or households becoming poorer. The impact differs rather significantly depending on what is analysed, however. A good example is the analysis of rural household consumption in paper II: contrary to the common assumption of wealth bias making results less reliable, the identified trend of increased household consumption among poorer households is only reinforced if the first pre-1734 period indeed includes a generally wealthier sample to compare the late eighteenth century with.

4.2. Sound toll Registers

For the fourth paper in the dissertation, the probate data was complemented with data from the Sound Toll Registers on ships passing through the *Öresund* on their way to cities in Scania or Halland. The entire Sound toll Registers has been digitized and made available online through the work of the *University of Groningen* and *Tresoar, Frisian Historical and Literary Centre at Leeuwarden*, through the Sound Toll Registers Online Database.²⁵

The Sound Toll Registers are the records left after the Sound Toll, a tax levied by the Danish crown on – ostensibly - all ships passing between the Atlantic Ocean and the Baltic Sea through the *Öresund*, from 1429 and until it was abolished through international pressure in 1857. These tax officials were located in Helsingør (*Elsinore*) and levied the toll through the threat of the cannons at the fortress that guarded the town, which could sink any ships that attempted to pass by without paying. Even after Denmark lost control of the other side of the sound – with the loss of Scania to Sweden after the peace at Roskilde – in 1658, they manage to keep sole control of the toll; in part due to concessions to Swedish traders in the form of a lower toll cost (Gøbel 2010).

From at least the seventeenth century and forward, the toll constituted a significant part of the income of the Danish crown. For every ship that passed through the sound, the Danish toll officials in Helsingør would record the name and origin of the captain, both ports of departure and destination, as well as cargo of the ship. In order to defer the captains to trick the toll officials – i.e. by undervalue or omit some of the cargo – the Danish crown enforced the right of these notaries to purchase the entire cargo for the given resale value. Among historians of world trade, these registers appear to be a generally well-regarded source for measuring trade – it is held that the increase in passages through the sound toll mirrors the general increase in world trade during the period (Gøbel 2010; cf. Rönnbäck 2010; Gallagher 2016; Veluwenkamp & Scheltjens [eds.] 2018). Other historians, however, raise concerns about the quality of the registers, especially regarding levels of omission, and stress that they should be used with caution (Dow 1964; Pounds 1979; Charles & Daudin 2018)

Though this data is only used for part of the paper, it raises some important concerns about this source. For a more extensive discussion on the identified problems with the sound toll registers, I will refer to the paper itself; in short, it seems likely that there are nigh insurmountable levels of omissions in the registers – especially regarding trade in the immediate vicinity of the toll – prior to the toll reform of 1842. For example, for Malmö the registers only seem to capture 2% of domestic trade originating from north of the sound toll in 1742, and 47% in 1792. Though

²⁵ The Sound Toll Registers Online Database can be accessed via <u>www.soundtoll.nl</u> (2025-02-18)

comparisons with more detailed city-level data from Malmö seems to confirm that the Sound Toll Registers still can be used to identify general trends, historians should be wary of trying to use the source for any detailed studies. Especially of the regions immediately surrounding the toll, such as southern Sweden or northern Germany.

5. Methodology

5.1 The rural sample

As a first step of the project, my supervisors Erik Bengtsson and Mats Olsson inventoried all district (häradsrätt) and town (rådhusrätt) court archives in Sweden to identify significant collections of pre-1734 rural probate records to sample. While surviving inventories from this period exist in district archives all throughout Sweden, three main geographical clusters with a substantial number of inventories were identified as possible research regions: a large cluster of districts in southern Sweden, going from around Malmö and up through Scania to the districts around Halmstad; a smaller cluster located around the town of Kalmar in Småland; and one encompassing all of Gotland in the Baltic Sea.²⁶ Ultimately, the larger size of the south-Swedish cluster, as well as the presence of several towns also with large collections of pre-1734 probate inventories within or close by decided in favour of focusing the study of southern Sweden in particular; the selected districts and towns can be seen in Figure 3. That all of the chosen districts are located in previously Danish territory in southern Sweden - ceded to Sweden with the peace at Roskilde in 1658 – has two further advantages for the study: Firstly, the common tradition of probating inherited from the Danish administration of the sixteenth and early seventeenth centuries assured that the records from all these regions would conform to the same base standard regarding both structure and valuation – for example all probate records in the chosen areas before the monetary reform in 1775 are valued in Daler Silvermynt, unlike those found further north which are often instead valued in Daler Kopparmynt; and secondly, by choosing a single, more or less continuous region we could make sure to minimize - but of course not remove - the impact of different regional trade connections, since all of these three areas had significant economic integration already from early on in the period (Hanssen 1952: 228f; Wiking-Faria 2009: 55f).

²⁶ I am very grateful to my both supervisors for this preparatory work.

Studies in Swedish agrarian history traditionally divide and classify the countryside into three distinct regional types; Plain land (*slättbygd*), Forest land (*skogsbygd*), and intermediate 'Shrub' land (*risbygd*), originating from the seminal ethnographic study of Åke Campbell (1928) and based on how geographical preconditions would create distinct regional economies and building cultures. As can be seen in table 6, all three of the region types are represented among the analysed regions, albeit with a slight overrepresentation of shrub regions as that is the most common type found in Halland. In general, the plains regions are found among the south and southwestern plains of Scania, while the inland is more forested. For the actual analysis households were classified as living in a specific type of region on parish basis – rather than district – since the districts are not always geographically uniform.

Country	District	Number of inv	Number of inventories		
		1670-1720	1780-85	1860-65	
Halland		198	200	200	
	Halmstad	107	147	148	Shrub
	Tönnersjö	57	36	35	Shrub
	Hök	34	17	17	Shrub
Malmöhus		135	228	228	
	Oxie	59	64	64	Plains
	Skytts	30	28	28	Plains
	Frosta	8	35	35	Shrub/Plain
	Vemmenhög	24	34	34	Shrub/Plain
	Rönneberga	6	34	34	Shrub/Plain
	Bara	8	33	33	Plains
Kristianstad		150	212	318	
	Norra Åsbo	48	35	35	Forest
	Södra Åsbo	47	66	111	Shrub
	Östra Göinge	30	50	61	Forest
	Bjäre	25	61	111	Shrub
Total		483	640	746	

 Table 6. Regional composition of the Rural Production and Consumption 1670-1865 Database

Sources: Probate inventories collected from twelve district archives, collected into a unified database. Note: Type of area classified based on Rosenberg (1882-1883a & b), Campbell (1928), and Bohman (2010).

The plains region of southwestern Scania in contemporary Malmöhus county – including the sampled districts surrounding Malmö – is one of the most fertile regions in the entirety of Sweden (Bohman 2010). Densely populated, the area was highly cultivated already by the seventeenth century and would be leading in the adoption of the innovations of the agricultural revolution of the early nineteenth

century during which period it would quickly become the breadbasket of Sweden (Olsson & Svensson 2010). Further north of this fertile area the geography becomes more diverse and forested, as the plains regions give way to first shrubland and then the forests of northern Scania. These regions are more economically diverse than the highly agricultural plains, with a greater focus on husbandry, transport work, and handicraft. During the latter half of the eighteenth century this region underwent rapid land reclamation, which greatly expanded available farmland and allowed for a significant population increase (Campbell 1928; Hanssen 1952). In the northernmost analysed districts in Halland county, there was also a particularly high share of noble-owned land which furthermore entailed a relatively higher rent-burden for the rural population. In this area a large part of the population were forced to compensate their meagre agricultural income with seasonal migratory wage labour in the more fertile Scania to the south, or export of household textile production to the proto-industrial region of Sjuhäradsbygden further to the north (Hanssen 1952; Johansson 2001; Wiking-Faria 2009). The geographical extent of the analysed area can be seen in figure 3.

An issue that arises when trying to extrapolate generally applicable patterns of historical development from studies on a single, or even a few, regions is the question of representativeness: if the analysed regions are so unique, is it possible to generalise the development found there to Sweden – not to say Europe – more broadly? Though it is likely correct that the Oxie peasants – with their excellent soil quality and close proximity to an urban market – had very different economic preconditions and possibilities than a peasant in the mountainous *Bergslagen* region of central Sweden – whose income was mostly derived from their participation in rural proto-industrial iron production – the same can be said for every single region in Sweden. Wiking-Faria (2009: 51) raises a salient point when he asks whether there actually exists something like a "normal" region. He follows this question with a quote from historian Christer Winberg stressing that if every region is unique, then it becomes the historian's task "to identify the general features in the multitude of unique details."²⁷

²⁷ Quote of Christer Winberg, taken from Wiking-Faria (2009: 51) and translated by me, original: "att försöka se generella drag i myllret av unika detaljer".



Figure 3. The analysed areas. Source: Author.

These general features and common patterns of development have indeed been the focus for the study. As can be seen clearly in papers I and II later in this dissertation, despite their starkly different geographical and economic preconditions the general development pattern is remarkably similar across the different regions. Indeed, as further noted by Wiking-Faria (2009: 51-52), the differences between the regions are in this case likely beneficial as they further accentuate the commonalities and shared historical development when it comes to, for example, the adoption of new consumer behaviours, or the diversification of household production into proto-industrial spinning and weaving.

5.2 The urban sample

The three towns of Malmö, Ystad, and Falkenberg were selected for the study. The towns all have the advantage of boasting a significant number of pre-1734 probate records; or at least relatively significant, as the case of Falkenberg. Furthermore, the countryside surrounding the towns all have plenty of surviving probate records from before 1734 as well, making possible a comparison between town and countryside. ²⁸ The towns also represent a good spread of sizes and wealth; as can be seen in table 7, the towns range in size from medium – within a Swedish perspective – to very small. Just as is the case for the countryside, these differences in size and wealth between the sampled town should accentuate the similarities and allow for the identification of the uniquely urban early modern characteristics.

	1580s/1610s	1690s	1770s	1800	1860
Stockholm	8 000	55 000	68 800	75 517	112 391
Göteborg	1 300	4 800	11 000	12 804	37 043
Malmö	3 800	5 700	4 800	3 962	18 919
Gävle	1 500	1 800	3 800	5 410	10 975
Ystad	1 300	1 800	2 400	2 460	5 324
Arboga	1 600	2 000	1 600	1 412	2 882
Simrishamn	200	500	600	664	1 415
Falkenberg	300	400	600	668	1 131

Table 7. Town population size in Swedish comparison

Note. Source is Lilja (1994), Appendix for the first three dates and SCB (1967), Table 12 for 1800 and 1860. SCB's city-level data begins in 1800.

All three of the towns have medieval origins, and thus well predate the Swedish annexation of the region in 1658 (*Svensk uppslagsbok* 1931). Malmö was long the second town in the Danish kingdom, and expanded during the sixteenth century on the back of herring fishing and trade with Lübeck and the Hansa (Tomner 1977; Olsson 2023); though it stagnated under Swedish rule, the expansion of the harbour in 1775 as well as the agrarian revolution together with a lifting of the restrictions on grain exports led to a second period of growth in the nineteenth century (Olsson & Svensson 2010). Ystad and Falkenberg, on the other hand, were significantly smaller with a more steady population growth over the period. Due to good harbours, they functioned as regional market towns, with especially Ystad for a

²⁸ Halmstad – as the county seat of residence – would have been preferable as a choice to Falkenberg – the smallest and arguably poorest town in the county. However, the Halmstad town hall burned down in 1880, which destroyed the town archive and with it nearly all documents – including the probate records – from before 1820.

period during the early eighteenth century being probably the most important port in Scania (Kraft & Bjurling 1956). However, whereas both Malmö and Ystad retained their staple rights after the Swedish annexation, and thus remained important ports for foreign trade, Falkenberg lost them already in 1660. Though it retained town privileges, it was outside of its immediate hinterland relatively insignificant during the rest of the early modern; described by the nineteenthcentury cartographer Carl af Forsell (1824:33) as "the poorest town in the county", it housed in the 1730s only five merchants and 27 craftsmen (Bexell 1929).

Due in part to the old custom of drawing up probate records in Denmark, and in part due to the relative importance of the town within the Danish kingdom, Malmö furthermore has a significant number of preserved probate records going back to the early 1500s. A selection of these – almost every available inventory from between 1570 and 1599 – were sampled as a corollary part of the project,²⁹ and initial results of this can be found in paper III in this dissertation. Issues of comparability with the later records made it difficult to fully incorporate these inventories into the broader analysis of consumption and living standards: at the end of the sixteenth century, it appears as if the custom of drawing up probate records might not have been completely developed yet. The records in the volumes include a combination of actual, recognisable probate records, protocols detailing only the division of the estate, and so-called sealing protocols – an initial list of the contents of the home drawn up shortly after death to be valued and divided at a future point. Consequently, not all of the sixteenth century records includes a proper and complete inventory and valuations of the household assets.

	1570-1599	1670-1720	1780s	1860s
Malmö	144	203	201	200
Ystad	-	157	108	201
Falkenberg	-	44	43	80
Total	144	404	352	481

Table 8. Composition of the Urban Production and Consumption 1570-1860s database

Source: Probate inventories collected from three town archives, collected into a unified database.

The composition of the urban sample can be seen in table 8; due to the very small size of Falkenberg, this town is significantly less represented than the other two towns. However, despite the sample period for the towns during the 1780s and

²⁹ We are very grateful to Ebbe Kocks stiftelse for supplying funding for the sampling of the sixteenth century probate records, within the project *Levnadsstandard i skånska städer ca 1540-1800*, and to Anders Larsson for undertaking the practical and arduous task of sampling.

1860s being a decade – unlike the five years decided upon for the countryside – not even the significantly bigger Ystad could provide the wished-for 200 probate inventories for the 1780s.

5.3 Periodization and sample size

After settling for the areas to study, the next step was to delineate the periodization from which to sample the probate records, as well as the size of the collected sample. Since the goal of the project was to study long-term developments up until the cusp of industrialisation in the 1860s, it was decided to split the research period into three different samples – roughly evenly spaced across the full period. From the initial survey of the available probate records we knew roughly the number of individual probates we could expect to sample in the different regions up until they became mandatory in 1734.

Based on these expectations it was decided to place the first cut-off point in 1720; according to the initial survey this should have allowed us to collect circa 200 probates from (almost) every region and town, and historically it coincides with the end of Swedish Empire with the death of Charles XII in 1718 and the start of the so-called Age of Liberty. This first period, starting in the 1670s from when we have the earliest surviving probate records on the south-Swedish countryside, is by far the longest of the three analysed periods, spanning fifty years rather than five. Unlike the other two periods the imperial period is one of semi-constant warfare – at least some of which took place on the Scanian countryside – and high levels of taxation and state centralisation (Magnusson 2000). While it can – justifiably – be argued that this makes it a poor comparison with the latter periods, it is also the case that just as there are no "normal" regions, there are no "normal" periods of time. Furthermore, this period – to some extent because of the state of semi-constant warfare – better represent the standard in Sweden before the Age of Liberty, which makes the development over the preceding period even more interesting to cover.

The second period was set in the 1780s, shortly after the royal coup of 1772 and the re-institution of absolute monarchic rule. For this later period, five years proved more than enough a time-span to sample 200 probate records per rural region, matching the original geographical distribution from the first period as closely as possible. The whole decade was sampled for the urban sample, due to the much smaller population to sample. The timing of this second period allows for an analysis of the development during the preceding Age of Liberty and the economic and political improvements for especially the peasant class during these decades (Magnusson 2000; Gadd 2011); the original plan was to set the starting date for this period in 1775, but unfortunately that would coincide with a monetary reform of the

same year which – was decided – would unnecessarily complicate the sampling process.³⁰ The 1780s further roughly corresponds to when the agricultural revolution in southern Sweden – which began mid-century – starts accelerating, leading to the emergence of modern economic growth in the region (Olsson & Svensson 2010).

The last period was set in the 1860s; though as the sampling process saw us start at the beginning of the period and work forward, the absolute majority of all records hail from the first few years of the period. This period is situated just before the breakthrough of industrialisation in Sweden, and allows for the analysis of the impact of the agricultural and transport revolutions during the first half of the nineteenth century (Olsson & Svensson 2010; Bergenfeldt 2014). Once again the original starting date for this period was set for five year prior in 1855, but here too that would coincide with a monetary reform of the same year.³¹ The reason for stopping specifically in the 1860s is due to this being just at the cusp of industrialisation in Sweden, which due to its fundamentally different systems of both consumption and reproduction makes it poorly comparable with the previous periods (cf. Muldrew 2011, who makes this argument for stopping his analysis for England around 1800).

The idea behind the three study-periods is that since probate inventories are the sum total of a lifetime acquisition of household goods, they better represent the decades preceding them than the year they are drawn up. A big enough dataset from two selected points in time the records not only provide information on the state of household ownership of goods during the period which they are recorded, but more importantly the comparison between the sets reveals the development in the intervening timespan. A good example is the ownership of objects related to the drinking of colonial drinks, such as tea and coffee:³² while completely absent during the early eighteenth century in both towns and on the countryside, we can see a sharp increase in the towns over the nineteenth century, and that the countryside catches up in this consumption over the nineteenth century. Apart from the simple conclusions that the median urban household could consume colonial hot drinks in

³⁰ This monetary reform saw the shift from the older bi-metallic coin standard to a single silver-standard – as well as a shift from a base 32 to a base 48 system of denomination – and included a devaluation of the old coins by 1/6 (Jörberg 1972). As it turned out, the switch over appears to have taken time and still in the 1780s there were a – limited – number of probate records still valued in the old coinage.

³¹ This reform saw the switch from the old base 1/48/576 system of conversion to the decimal 1/100; unlike the 1775 reform it did not include any devaluation of the coinage, and the transition in the probate records appears to have been remarkably quick with only a handful of the 1860s inventories valued in the old coinage (Jörberg 1972).

³² Hot chocolate is technically also included in this group, though only a single household in the entire sample owned a utensil for drinking chocolate; merchant Johan Söderling in Falkenberg who owned half a dozen porcelain cocoa cups without saucers.

their home during the late eighteenth century, while almost no one on the countryside could, the periodization also allows us to reconstruct a - very - rough timeline of the introduction of colonial hot drinks to the south-Swedish households; how it was introduced to the coastal towns during the mid-eighteenth century, but apparently failed to spread into the countryside until some point after 1800 – after which it instead spread rapidly among the rural population.

5.4 Sampling method

Individual probate records were generally added to the collected volumes in the order they were submitted to the courts. In the towns this would occur continuously throughout the year as people died and their estates were assessed by the town notary, while on the countryside this would occur during the thrice yearly court sessions. Thus, due to the lack of any inherent ordering in the volumes other than chronological, and with the assumption that the time of year at which any individual died should have been relatively unbiased, a randomised sampling method was deemed unnecessary. Instead, as long as the inventories conformed to basic criteria for legibility and comparability, every single inventory was sampled from the beginning of the volume continuing until the previously determined number of inventories had been sampled. Due to the relatively low share of probated individuals, this often meant that whole years' worth of inventories was sampled, which further reduced the need for a conscious sampling method. Only in some of the more densely populated districts in Malmöhus during the 1860s period did this sampling process mean that less than a full years of inventories was sampled, due to the nineteenth century population increase.

Unlike many similar studies on household consumption and production utilizing probate inventories which fully transcribes the inventories sampled (see Overton et al. 2004; McCants 2008; Bovenkerk & Fertig 2021; Mas-Ferrer 2023a), the focus on quantity mixed with the restrictions of time and funding inherent in a doctoral thesis necessitated a more limited and selective sampling. This type of sampling is, of course, by no means novel, but is rather common in Swedish historical research. It has, however, more often been used in more directed studies of more specific aspects of household consumption, rather than the more extensive scope of this dissertation – such as books, colonial goods, cotton textiles, new clothing patterns, or elite status consumption (Bringéus 1977; Ahlberger 1996; Andersson G. 2009; Andersson E. I. 2017; Ulväng 2021).

A select, yet extensive, list of goods was selected for special focus to be sampled from the individual inventories. These goods were selected because they were deemed to best represent the two aspects we sought to analyse for the study – household productive capacity, and developments in household consumption patterns. Prior to the start of the sampling process similar studies – especially those of Shammas (1990), Overton et al. (2004), McCants (2008), and de Vries (2008) – were consulted for inspiration of which specific goods to select for sampling; in part to identify the objects best representative of the consumer revolution that is introduced throughout Europe in the eighteenth century, and partly to make the results comparative in an international context of similar research.

The goods indicative of the productive capacity of the household was defined as any good that could be used to create more value to contribute to the reproduction of the household. These include agricultural and fishing tools, spinning wheels and looms, tools for processing wool and flax, tools for distilling alcohol, carpentry supplies and similar tools for the maintenance of the farm and its buildings, as well as all the cattle. In this category was also included goods and produce possibly for sale, such as stored grain – including grain still on the field – as well as indetermined batches of textiles or (un-)treated wool and linen not recorded among the household textiles. The productive goods were the most straight-forward to sample, and for this part we sampled every single object that we deemed would fit the criteria; for all of these we sampled both the number of individual objects – when possible – as well as the recorded value of these objects. The main exception to this rule was the general tools; the oftentimes long and extensive list of hammers, drills, saws, files, and axes of different shapes, sizes, and uses were deemed too time-consuming to differentiate and count individually. Instead, they were clumped together under the category of "tools" and only recorded with their total value. Similarly, the agricultural tools were deemed to diverse to count individually. For these, the total value was recorded along with whether the household 1) only owned scythes, sickles, and hoes which would indicate a limited agricultural capacity with a focus on pasture, a vegetable garden, and participation in the harvest; or 2) whether they owned harrows, ploughs, or similar heavy farming implements that would have required animals or similar non-human power to operate, indicating they either had field of their own or participated in the sowing.

For the goods analysed for household consumption, a more restricted selection was necessary. After consulting the previous – mainly international – research on the topic, a selection of goods were picked that were all deemed indicative of both the more traditional consumption patterns present in the region at the start of the period – such as objects of valuable metals, those related to spices, the consumption of tobacco, and clothes and textiles – as well as those consumer goods that we could expect to find with the advent of the consumer revolution and increasing access to colonial trade during the eighteenth century – such as colonial hot drinks, porcelain, specialized furniture, clocks and watches, art, and scientific equipment. Porcelain in contemporary records was defined as glazed and fired pottery, and included both pieces imported from China – always specified as "Oriental" in the inventories – as

well as of European origin.³³ For these we also gathered information on the presence of common alternatives, such as earthenware and glass.

Ultimately, the list of goods included in the sample represents a wide variety of different objects, with similarly varied ways in which the contemporary assessors recorded these goods within the structure of the inventory; either all of them together under their own specific heading, such as silver objects, pewter objects, bedlinen, and everyday clothes; often grouped together with similar objects but not always, such as porcelain earthenware, and glass; or spread out under a larger, widely encompassing heading such as furniture – and sometimes clocks – under "wooden belongings" (*träbohag*), in which they sometimes – but not always – would be listed by room. Because of this variety, different types of objects and goods were recorded in different ways, at the level of detail which were decided to both be the most feasible for an efficient data collection, and which would contribute the most to the analysis.

Three different recording categories were used when setting up the databases, often in different combinations: Whether a good was present or not in the inventory, how many of an individual good was present in the inventory, and the total value of all goods of a single type or group present in the inventory. The first of these options – sometimes substituted with only the total value, as a value over zero obviously indicates a presence within the inventory – were mainly used either when counting individual items were deemed unfeasible or not possible. This includes the drinking of colonial goods which is proxied by the presence of cups and kettles; pewter objects and clothes, which in the case of more affluent households can be counted in several dozens of individual items recorded in different odd quantities; as well as goods where data on individual number of objects not contributing enough to the analysis to be worth the extra time, such as objects of gold and silver, or individual pillows and blankets.

Some of the decisions for data-gathering were decided by the structure of the inventory itself, such as the division of household textiles between bedlinen, linen, and bench cushions. As the assessors summed up all the individually valued objects per category – before adding these together for the total sum of the estate – it was early on determined that mostly using the same structure as the contemporary assessors would save time. It is for similar reasons that no difference was done

³³ Porcelain not specified as being "oriental" was determined to be of general European origin, though this was not always specified in the inventory itself. Non-oriental porcelain found in the south-Swedish inventories are seldomly specified with a country of origin, but would have been imported from a few different places of origin: Stockholm, were the Rörstrand porcelain factory started production in 1726; the Netherlands, in which case it is very likely – and in a few cases even specified – to be delft-ware; Saxony, likely from the factories in Meissen, which is mentioned in at least one inventory; or England, in which case it is never specified more directly from where the porcelain hailed.

between animals of different ages,³⁴ and why goats and sheep, as well as geese and chickens, are grouped together – though the last one does not really matter as chickens are very conspicuously absent in the inventories. For many of the possessions – most notably those defined as productive goods – both individual number of objects/animals as well as total value was noted down. This was mostly made possible by the fact that animals in the inventory already were grouped and valued by category; for many of these, such as the fishing tools and "other textile production" – i.e. not spinning wheels or looms – a list of the individual items were also included, though this proved to have little impact on the analysis.

af page mad dal lice bagos

Picture 4. An excerpt of some of the household goods belonging to the household of Nilla Persdotter (d. 1785), wife of a tenant farmer on noble land in Mickedal, Vapnö Parish, 1785. The excerpt well exemplifies the detailed nature of Swedish early modern probate records, with their itemized and individually valued lists of objects. A remarkable aspect of them are the very low value of many of the items included, such as the 2 water buckets ("2 st. wattuspannar", 6th item from the bottom up), together valued at only 1 *skilling* and 6 *runstycken* (half a skilling).

³⁴ This unfortunately has the consequence that the common way to calculate the so-called Cattle Equivalent (CE) units (*Nötkreaturseneheter, or NE*) – a way to normalise animal productivity commonly used by Swedish agrarian historians (see Gadd 1983; Linde 2012) – becomes impossible, as it gives different weighted values to young and old horses and cattle. Instead, a simplified conversion rate was utilised in the papers for which this is relevant: 1 horse = 1,5 CE, 1 cattle = 1 CE, 1 pig = 0,25 CE, 1 sheep or goat = 0,1 CE.

6. Summaries of the papers

Paper I: Wealth, work, and industriousness, 1670–1860: Evidence from rural Swedish probates

Co-authored with Erik Bengtsson and Mats Olsson

The first paper of the dissertation focuses on the productive capacity of the rural population in southern Sweden and how this develops over the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Economic development prior to industrialisation in the nineteenth century remains one of the great debates in European economic history. While GDP per capita and real wage series for most of Europe – and very much so for Sweden – would suggest stagnant economic growth during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, earlier research suggests several reasons why we should expect a much more dynamic early modern rural Swedish economy than that suggested by aggregate data: increased agricultural output through the introduction of new crop rotations, animal-breeding, and new, more efficient tools, as well as improvements of wagons (Bergenfeldt, Olsson, & Svensson 2013; Gadd 2000; Morell, 2022; Olsson & Svensson 2010). Jan de Vries' (2008) industrious revolution theory further proposes a process of increased intensification of household labour during this period with a focus on market-oriented production and wage work.

The paper utilizes a new dataset of almost 1900 probate records from the south-Swedish countryside to investigate the development of rural households' productive capacity over the span of about two hundred years, from the late seventeenth century to the 1860s. It analyses how the composition of tools and productive equipment held by these households – such as farming tools, wagons, tools for fishing and hunting, brewing supplies, spinning wheels, and looms – develop over the period and correlate this to the development of household wealth. By further breaking up the sample between peasants and rural labourers, we can identify the different productive strategies employed by the landed and unlanded populations, as well as map the development for the continuously growing and increasingly proletarianized labouring population.

The results stress the level of importance which the diversification of household incomes, especially into household textile production, appears to have had during the eighteenth century. It has long been known that the rapid population increase during the eighteenth century led to a massive increase in the share of the landless

and semi-landless in the countryside, who would have had to complement their meagre self-sustenance production with seasonal wage labour and sale of handicraft. However, the paper finds that the whole of the rural population – landless, semi-landless, and peasants alike – appears to have turned to household textile production as a complementary income during the period.

Furthermore, unlike what is often suggested by the traditional division of Swedish geographical regions, with field regions specialising in agriculture producing a grain surplus exchanged for fuel and manufactured goods from grain-deficit forest regions, this general diversification of the household economy was not restricted only to the less fertile and traditionally more proto-industrial regions in the north of the analysed area. Peasants in the significantly more fertile and wealthier agricultural field regions in the south, where they feasibly could have sustained themselves on agriculture alone, acquired spinning wheels and looms in equal numbers to their northern, more proto-industrial contemporaries during the eighteenth century. It is not until the nineteenth century – after the institutional reforms and agrarian reforms of the decades around 1800 – that we can see the appearance of clearly specialised farmers in the probate inventories, with agricultural production – tools, horses, and cattle – accumulated mostly in the hands of a few exceedingly wealthy peasants on the countryside.

For the writing of this paper, I was responsible for structuring, handling part of, and overseeing the data collection; cleaning and structuring the gathered data for analysis; as well as creating the tables and the first draft of the overall analysis. My co-authors then helped refine and develop the paper, as well as provided the econometric calculations of inequality found in the appendix.

Paper II: Consumption and Living Standards in Early Modern Rural Households: Probate Evidence from Southern Sweden, c. 1680-1860

The second paper shifts the focus away from the productive capacity of rural households to their consumption behaviour and living standards, and how these develop over the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Though it is well known in Swedish history writing that the period following the fall of empire in 1718 would have been one of relative prosperity for the peasant group – at least those peasants on crown and tax land – due to a "drop in real terms in taxes and rents" (Gadd 2011:144), it is less clear how this prosperity was transformed into material improvements, as well as whether it was restricted to the landed peasant group or general across the countryside.

While some historians posit that this prosperity would have been used by these peasants to invest in ways to increase their productive capacity – through the acquisition of more land, more animals, and better tools – as well as to accumulate traditional symbols of status such as silver goods and similar valuable objects, probate studies for the latter half of the eighteenth century instead suggest an increase in the material standards of rural homes. By utilizing rural probate records, this paper analyses the actual material development of these households over the eighteenth century, as well as the difference between the landed peasants and the semi-landless and landless rural labourers, who would not have benefited in the same way from the increased prosperity of the first decades of the age of liberty.

The analysis reveals that the rural households indeed greatly improved their material conditions over the analysed period. The main development appears to have been centred around increased comfort and warmth, rather than either conspicuous consumption, increased productive capacity, or even demand for colonial goods, with both tea and coffee completely absent in the eighteenth-century inventories. Furthermore, while of course strongest among the wealthiest households, this improvement in material conditions is visible among the whole rural population – poor and rich, as well as landed and landless alike. While these improvements are most significant during the nineteenth century, a clear – albeit smaller – increase in household consumption is also visible during the eighteenth century. Over the course of the mid eighteenth century, the rural households not only acquired significantly more belongings than before, they also greatly diversified their stock of household goods; they acquired new types of furniture and cooking ware, exchanged their dinnerware with that of higher-quality and more fashionable materials, and greatly expanded their personal wardrobes.

The nineteenth-century improvements in the material standards of the rural home can likely to a large degree be attributed to the economic growth and burgeoning European-wide industrialisation of the period. However, the increased consumption during the eighteenth century – which lacked both these advantages – coincided with a diversification of rural household production into – especially – proto-industrial textile production. That many of the manufactured goods introduced during the period – especially non-pewter dinnerware – appear to be significantly more common in the more proto-industrial northern parts of the analysed region than in the significantly wealthier and more agricultural southern parts further suggests that there might exist a possible correlation between increased consumption and integration into inter-regional markets.
Paper III: Living standards and inequality in three south Swedish cities, c. 1570–1865

Co-authored with Erik Bengtsson and Mats Olsson.

The third paper moves the focus away from the countryside to the towns of southern Sweden, and analyses the development of urban material living standards and wealth over the early modern period. Utilising probate records from the three towns Malmö, Ystad, and Falkenberg, three towns of widely varying size and relative importance, it seeks to map the development of household wealth and material living standards over the early modern period, in order to question and problematise the usual picture of the Swedish pre-industrial town as general undynamic and unchanging. Due to the presence of sixteenth century inventories in the town of Malmö, it has for this study possible to go significantly further back in time than what was possible for the countryside.

The study of the material standards of these urban households can confirm that these towns, or at least Malmö, appears to have undergone a significant economic stagnation in the decades following their annexation into the Swedish empire. However, the material standards of all analysed socio-economic groups then seem to greatly improve over the eighteenth century. While this should be expected for the merchant group, since those were especially favoured by the mercantilist economic legislation of the eighteenth century Age of Liberty, it is more remarkable that this seem to be the main period of improvements of the material conditions also of the labouring group, given the overall U-shaped trend for relative wages during the century. Instead the material quality of the homes of labouring group appears to stagnate over the nineteenth century when real wages finally start to increase, during which the main improvements instead appears to have been a further diffusion of imported manufactured as well as colonial goods.

Contrasting what might be expected given the size of the analysed towns, the peripheral status of Sweden during the period, as well as the mostly negative development of GDP per capita, the inventories suggests a developing and dynamic eighteenth century urban economy. We find signs of a relatively high level of consumer power as well as integration into wider European markets, as evidenced by the high share of households owning objects related to the consumption of colonial goods; a share that is comparable to that found in the significantly wealthier and larger Venice and Gothenburg – the centre of Swedish colonial imports – although about half a century behind towns in the more centrally located Low Countries.

For the writing of this paper, I was responsible for structuring, handling part of, and overseeing the data collection; cleaning and structuring the gathered data for

analysis; as well as creating the tables and the first draft of the overall analysis, which my co-authors have then helped to refine and develop.

Paper IV: Goods to rural markets: the effect of markets on household access to goods in southern Sweden during the late eighteenth century

The fourth paper seeks to analyse the eighteenth-century market development. South-Swedish rural households greatly improved their material conditions during the course of the eighteenth century, and for the access to and acquisition of almost all the new consumer goods making up this improvement they were dependent on urban markets. Almost none of these goods were manufactured in the south-Swedish countryside, and combined with early modern Swedish legislation forbidding rural retailing (Lundqvist 2008; Sandberg 2001; Sovelius 1759), the main way for these households to acquire these goods would have been through urban markets. Thus, the new goods and consumer behaviours which emerged in the towns of the European centre reached southern Sweden first through the local towns connected to these by sea-bound trade routes, and after that to the countryside through these urban markets.

To ascertain in what way markets might have affected the material improvements identified over the eighteenth century, the paper studies market access and development in southern Sweden at two different levels. The first level is the interregional level, defined as that occurring between towns mainly through sea-bound trade; this trade has been measured using data on ships travelling to towns in southern Sweden taken from the sound toll registers online, as well as on ships travelling to Malmö, specifically using the Malmö harbour toll books. The second is the regional level, between countryside and town as well as – to a lesser extent – within the local countryside: the regional market has been analysed using probate evidence to ascertain the presence of selected consumer goods and the physical distance between household and market, as well as parish-level data of population numbers.

The main finding of the study on ship-bound inter-regional trade is that the general expansion of nautical trade during the period, both to Sweden specifically and across Europe in general, appears to not reach southern Sweden before the very end of the eighteenth century. Instead, the volume of ship-bound interregional trade to the region appears to remain steady during the eighteenth century, to virtually explode during the nineteenth century. This suggests that trade to the region as a whole – or at least the development of it – contributed little to the material improvements seen during the eighteenth century.

Looking at the regional markets appears to reveal that transport and transaction costs for imported manufactured goods were mostly irrelevant for the rural households. Instead, the evidence suggests that they could fairly easily acquire these goods no matter the distance from the closest urban market. Household consumption of these goods appears to rather have been determined more by regional consumption culture – such as peasants in agricultural regions being more traditional (Ahlberger 1996) – or by the presence of merchants with previously established networks for manufactured goods. These latter would have been the most common in areas characterized by early proto-industrialization and trade in rural handicraft, such as southern Halland or forested northeastern Scania – two areas with a particularly high share of households with manufactured goods.

7. Discussion, conclusion, and future work

In this dissertation I have strived to analyse the structure and development of the household economy and material living standards of the early modern Swedish households – what these households owned, what this says about the possibilities for household reproduction, and how they improved the material quality of their homes and lives over the course of the eighteenth and nineteenth century. It finds that, contrary what might be believed when looking at the eighteenth-century development of agricultural production, economic growth, and real wages for labourers (Edvinsson 2009; Edvinsson 2013; Schön & Krantz 2015; Gary 2018), this appears to economically have been a highly dynamic period, with clear improvements in the material living standards in both town and countryside. These improvements were furthermore not limited to only the land-owning peasants, or the merchants and artisans of the towns, but appears to have benefited even the urban labourers and rural landless and semi-landless populations.

When looking at the in-household material possibilities for household reproduction, the rural population appears to have diversified, rather than specialised, their production over the eighteenth century. This diversification, especially into textile production, would not only have allowed especially women and children to increase their labour allocation, but also to spread out household production more evenly throughout the year and made the household less reliant on land and agricultural production as the sole source of income. This would have led to an increase in the inflow of cash, but also increased household access to both small-sum credit against which they could possibly use the textile production as security (Vardi 1993; Muldrew 2011). This development towards a greater share of household textile production is furthermore not restricted only to the less fertile and traditionally more proto-industrial regions in the north of the analysed area, but is equally strong in the significantly more fertile and wealthier agricultural fields further to the south around Malmö. It is not until the nineteenth century, after the institutional reforms and agrarian reforms of the decades around 1800 (Gadd 1983; Gadd 2000; Morell 2001; Olsson & Svensson 2010), that we can see the appearance of clearly specialised farmers, with agricultural production - tools, horses, and cattle - accumulated in the hands of a few exceedingly wealthy peasants on the countryside.

Coinciding with these developments of household production was a clear and significant improvement in the quality of the material living standards, both in towns and on the countryside. Though the greatest improvements occurred during the nineteenth century – after the achievement of more significant economic growth and increased agricultural production – a smaller yet significant development also began at some point in the mid-eighteenth century. Compared to the conditions at the beginning of the century, the household by the end of the eighteenth century would have been warmer, would have had more household textiles and comfortable places to sit, had a larger and more diversified wardrobe, and be able to cook and serve a significantly more diverse diet. Even – or especially – when taking into consideration that the oldest sample likely is heavily biased in favour of more affluent households, the material quality of both the rural and the urban household improved greatly over the eighteenth century.

The developments in material living standards were far more rapid in the towns than on the countryside. By the 1780's the spread and adoption of new types of furniture, dinnerware of porcelain, and goods for the consumption of colonial drinks had in the towns reached high levels that were not matched on the countryside until some point mid-nineteenth century. The towns of southern Sweden appear to have been well-connected to the developments of the European core, with the urban population, the poorest as well as the more affluent, being quick to adopt the new consumer goods and behaviours introduced during the period. This mismatch in the pace of adoption between town and countryside is of note, as it does seem to confirm earlier findings and assumptions that the new goods and consumer patterns of the consumer revolution would be spread first between towns, and secondly from town to country (cf. van Koolbergen 1983; Weatherill 1988; Shammas 1990; Ahlberger 1997; Servais 2014; Ulväng 2021). However, it also suggests the presence – and potential development – of both regional and, specifically, rural consumption cultures during the period.

The main regional difference in rural consumption in the late eighteenth century appears to be between the highly arable field regions of southwestern Scania around Malmö – the wealthiest of the analysed regions – and the more mixed-economy regions further north traditionally more focused on handicraft and proto-industrial textile production. The latter, more northern, regions are in this regard somewhat more alike the urban regions, with a higher significantly share of porcelain and earthenware goods rather than the more traditional pewter more common among the southern field peasants; a difference that have completely disappeared eighty years later in the 1860s. As transport costs, despite poor roads during the eighteenth century, appear to have been negligible for the rural population, these differences must be based in other, more regionally determined, variables.

Lastly, though few articles interact with it directly, the actual presence of a consumer revolution in eighteenth century Sweden is a debated topic. While more socially and culturally focused historians often assume the presence of a consumer

revolution in Sweden during the period, as is the case elsewhere in Europe (Murhem et al. 2019; Brown 2020), historians of especially international trade questions this claim on the basis on the low real wages and very low amount of colonial goods – sugar, tea, and coffee – being imported into the country before the nineteenth century (Rönnbäck 2010; Edvinsson & Tarek Gad 2018). However, if one looks past colonial goods and instead consider the bigger cultural shift associated with the consumer revolution – the re-interpretation of comfort and focus on sociability rather than conspicuousness (Roche 2000; Crowley 2001) – then the development in household consumption that is observable both in towns and on the countryside very well correlates with those commonly associated with the consumer revolution.

7.1. The question of a Swedish "industrious revolution"

Regarding the question of whether or not Sweden during the eighteenth century – or possibly even earlier – underwent an industrious revolution, I am cautiously positive. However, not in the way as originally proposed by de Vries (2008). Based on the collected probate evidence, it does seem like at least rural households, in line with the theory of industriousness, increased their market-oriented labour during the eighteenth century; mainly through an increase in household textile production. Concurrently, we also see the beginning of clear improvements in the material quality of the homes and an increased consumption broadly in line with the consumption revolution – though on the countryside not a consumption of colonial goods. The question remains, however, whether this is an increase in industriousness driven by demand for new (and imported) consumer goods, as envisioned in the original presentation of the theory (de Vries 2008), by economic necessity, as suggested by some of the critics of the theory (cf. Overton et al 2004; Allen & Weisdorf 2011; Gary & Olsson 2020; Horrell, Humphries, & Weisdorf 2021), or even if the causal relation between increased production and consumption is in fact reversed, as Hutchison (2014) proposes for Norway.

Craig Muldrew (2011) in his study of English labourers argues that the improvements in the quality of homes occurred during a period "when food prices were going up more than wages; when rents were going up; when access to commons was falling; and when labourers' own farming activities were declining" (ibid: 207). This period, he further assesses, was also one of emerging industriousness in England, with increasing agricultural productivity and demand for labour. No matter the cause or causal direction, the processes of increased industriousness and consumption during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries appear both simultaneous and connected. While an increased industriousness might not have started due to an increased demand for market-exclusive consumer goods, both the evidence from the Swedish probate records and research from elsewhere in Europe suggests that – once started – it contributed to these households later being

able to increase their consumption; when the economy turned and it again became possible to create a surplus with which to consume non-essentials (cf. Malanima & Pinchera 2012: 215). Those shifts in the allocation of production towards especially proto-industrial manufacture, that during years of stagnation and increasing costs of living allowed households to increase incomes and maintain earlier living standards, contributed during the momentary good years instead to greater purchasing power.

However, periods of decreasing real wages necessitating increasing labour output was by the late seventeenth century nothing new. Only that in the past every time the economy turned for the better, peasants and the labouring classes would have reverted to re-increase their leisure to earlier levels, rather than their consumption (Hatcher 1998). So, what changed? Well, if we return to the discussion of Z-commodities:

$$Z_i = f_i(x_i, T_i) \tag{1}$$

And the allocation of time within the household:

$$T = T_c + T_w + T_r \tag{2}$$

Since, as de Vries (2008: 26f) argues, the acquisition of market goods (x) is a function of time dedicated to their purchase ($x = T_ww = [time dedicated to labour]$ x [*wages/income*]), the whole function of the production and consumption of Z-commodities can be broken down into the allocation of time; time spent acquiring consumer goods (T_w), converting these goods to Z-commodities (T_c), and finally consuming these (T_r).

If we posit that the period that preceded the developments of the industrious revolution was one of relatively high wages and low cost of living, then the cost in labour and time of acquiring consumer goods would have been generally lower than that necessary to convert these into Z-commodities. In this earlier consumption regime households could afford to acquire – for the sake of equation – relatively inefficient consumer goods, since they had significantly more (free) time available to convert and enjoy the final Z-commodities. However, as real wages decreased and the cost of living increased, the internal relation in the allocation of time shifted and the time cost of acquiring consumer goods – i.e. time allocated to wage labour and production – would have increased relative to the other two. This general shift is visualised in equation (3).³⁵

$$T_w < T_c + T_r \quad \to \quad T_w > T_c + T_r \tag{3}$$

³⁵ I remove the time dedicated to sleep in this thought experiment. While it remains one of the singularly largest time expenses, it fits poorly into any model of conscious time allocation.

As households got less time to convert these consumer goods and enjoy the final product, the earlier consumption strategies had to be revised and exchanged. In earlier centuries, households would seek to revert to an older consumption regime of high leisure; if a new regime was to emerge, it had to rely on more "efficient" consumer goods, which more easily could be transformed and be enjoyed fully in a shorter period of time. The answer came in the form of the novel consumer goods and behaviour of the consumer revolution: Finished manufactures such as earthenware and porcelain were quicker to acquire than home-made objects of wood; pots and pans allowed for more varied food that both were likely more gratifying that the older stews and porridges, and also could be cooked under a more intense period than the older stew over the fire; tea and coffee could be bought hot and gave instant satisfaction; and finally the new notions of fast fashion and the introduction of shopping as a concept gave the consumer items a secondary consumption trait that could be enjoyed during the process of acquiring them.

Thus, when the surplus time necessary for the older consumption regime became unavailable with the economic downturn of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, the old Z-commodities could be substituted with new and more efficient consumer goods. This is likely one explanation as to why we throughout Europe can see this long-term shift in consumption behaviour - and significant increase in material goods - among groups who would have been forced to increase their labour output, often starting during periods of general economic decline (Muldrew 2011; Bovenkerk & Fertig 2021; Mas-Ferrer 2023a). That the industrious revolution took off during the late seventeenth and eighteenth centuries was likely aided by the fact that this decrease in surplus time coincided with a sharp decline in the cost of consumer goods more efficient for the pursue of leisure (Hatcher 1998). There were several reasons behind this decrease in cost, but some of them include limited technical breakthroughs in earthenware and porcelain production (Finlay 1998; de Vries & van der Woude 1997), a massive expansion of proto-industrial production of textiles (Berg 1985; Vardi 1993; Ogilvie 2003), increase in colonial trade (McCants 2008; Rönnbäck 2010), and population growth which helped open up secondary markets (Mas-Ferrer 2023b; McCants 2007; Murhem, Ulväng, & Lilja 2010; Roche 2000; Stobart & Van Damme 2010).

Across Europe households of all socio-economic strata appear to significantly increase their consumption of the goods of the consumer revolution during the late seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, especially of new and fashionable populuxe goods (Shammas 1990; Weatherill 1988; McCants 2008: Blondé & van Damme 2010; Ryckbosch 2015; Bovenkerk & Fertig 2021; Mas-Ferrer 2023a). Due to the nature of the goods enabling this new consumption regime and the ways they could be accessed, this was initially an urban development and it took time for the consumption behaviours of town and countryside to fully converge. On the Swedish countryside during the late eighteenth century, this convergence appears the clearest in regions well-connected to proto-industrial trade networks. While the decrease in

wages and surplus time would have been universal, households in these betterconnected regions would likely have had easier access to the new consumer goods allowing a relatively quicker adoption of the new consumption regime characteristic of the industrious revolution. The rapid marketization of the nineteenth century, however, quickly erased many of the regional differences that existed, as well as to a large extent properly converged the consumption behaviours of town and countryside.

7.2. Future work

So, what are the next steps from here? As is the nature of doctoral dissertations, this study has by no means been conclusive and there are several ways in which it can be expanded upon. Here, I will briefly discuss a few of those:

There are two logical next steps to expand the study for Sweden specifically. The first is to further expand the sample, to include more towns in southern Sweden such as Kristianstad and Varberg, and to include the other clusters of pre-1734 probate inventories around Kalmar and Gotland. Second is to look at the auction protocols that sometime accompany the inventories in the sources. These kinds of protocols have earlier been studied for a selection of Swedish towns and their hinterlands by Murhem, Ulväng, & Lilja (2010, 2013), but it would be interesting to analyse these more directly in the context of probate records and the information on household consumption they can provide. While it would entail a significant undertaking to identify these, since they often include information on buyer it would give invaluable further information not only about consumption strategies in general, but about the early modern second-hand market in particular.

Looking beyond Sweden, while I have tried to consistently and continuously locate the study within a broader, European context, it remains – for logical reasons – a specifically Swedish study: the source material used is restricted to southern Sweden and the conclusions are mainly contributions to Swedish historiography. A natural next step would be to expand the European comparison, optimally in cooperation with historians from other (semi-)peripheral European regions. Such an undertaking has probably never been more possible than now: the questions of industriousness and the dynamism of the early modern economy are resurgent across Europe, and has been the topic of several recently and soon-to-be published dissertations (see Van de Sompele 2021; Mas-Ferrer 2023b; Bovenkerk 2024; also the PhD-projects of Alberto Concina and Bas Spliet).

References

Archival sources

- Church books (death books and catechetical interrogation books (*husförhörslängder*)) from the following parish archives, held at the National Archives (Riksarkivet) in Lund and the City Archives (Statsarkivet) in Malmö, and accessed through ArkivDigital (arkivdigital.se): Falkenberg församling; Lunds domkyrkofösamling; Anderslöv, Annelöv, Arrie, Asige, Asmundtorp, Ausås, Bara, Barkåkra, Björnekulla, Bodarp, Borlunda, Bosjökloster, Bunkeflo, Burlöv, Båstad, Börringe, Bösarp, Dalköping, Emmislöv, Enslöv, Esarp, Eskilstorp, Fagerhult (Skånes-Fagerhult), Finja, Fjelie, Flackarp, Flyinge, Fosie, Fru Alstad, Fuglie, Fulltofta, Färingtofta, Färlöv, Förslöv, Genarp, Getinge, Gislöv, Glimåkra, Glostorp, Glumslöv, Grevie, Gryt, Gråmanstorp, Grönby, Gårdstånga, Gärdslöv, Gässie, Halmstad, Hammarlunda, Hammarlöv, Harlösa, Harplinge, Hassle-Bösarp, Hasslöv, Hemmesdynge, Hishult, Hjärnarp, Hjärsås, Holm, Holmby, Hov, Hurva, Husie, Hyby, Hyllie, Hällestad, Härslöv, Hästveda, Höja, Hököpinge, Hörby, Höör, Kinnared, Knislinge, Knäred, Knästorp, Konga, Kvibille, Kvidinge, Kviinge, Kvistofta, Kyrkoheddinge, Kyrkoköpinge, Kågeröd, Källna, Laholm socken, Lemmeströ, Lilla Beddinge, Lilla Isie, Lilla Slågarp, Lockarp, Lomma, Loshult, Lyby, Lyngby, Maglarp, Mellan-Grevie, Munka-Ljungby, Kunkarp, Nevishög, Norra Rörum, Norra Strö, Norra Vram, Oderljunga, Osby, Ottarp, Oxie, Perstorp, Rebbelberga, Riseberga, Rya, Räng, Rännselöv, Rävinge, Röstånga, Saxtorp, Simlinge, Sireköping, Skabersjö, Skivarp, Skummeslöv, Skurup, Slimminge, Slättåkra, Slöinge, Snöstorp, Solberga, Starby, Stenestad, Steninge, Stora Hammar, Stora Slågarp, Strövelstorp, Svalöv, Svedala, Svensköp, Säby, Södra Rörum, Södra Sallerup, Söndrum, Tirup, Tjärby, Tofta, Torekov, Torup, Tottarp, Trelleborg, Trönninge, Tullstorp, Tygelsjö, Tåstarp, Tåssjö, Uppåkra, Vadensiö, Vapnö, Vedby, Veinge, Våxtorp, Västra Alstad, Västra Broby, Västra Ingelstad, Västra Karup, Västra Klagstorp, Västra Sallerup, Västra Sönnarslöv, Västra Tommarp, Ysby, Äspinge, Ängelholm, Örkelljunga, Örkened. Örja, Örkelljunga, Örkened, Össjö, Örsjö, Östra Broby, Östra Grevie, Östra Karup, Östra Ljungby, Östra Sallerup, Östra Strö, Östra Torp, Östra Vemmenhög, & Övraby parishes; Malmö Caroli församling; Malmö Pauli församling; Ystad Sankt Petri församling: Ystad Sankta Maria församling.
- The following district archives (*häradsrätter*), held at the National Archives (*Riksarkivet*) in Lund and accessed through ArkivDigital (arkivdigital.se): Bara, Bjäre, Frosta, Halmstad, Höks, Norra Åsbo, Oxie, Rönnebergs, Skytts, Södra Åsbo, Vemmenhögs, Östra Göinge.

The town magistrate archives (*rådhusrätter*) of Falkenberg, Malmö, & Ystad, held at the National Archives (*Riksarkivet*) in Lund and the City Archives (*Statsarkivet*) in Malmö, and accessed through ArkivDigital (arkivdigital.se).

Digital Databases

Gender and Work (<u>https://gotham.ddb.umu.se/public/uttag/sv/resultat</u>, accessed 2024-09-12)

Sound toll Registers Online (www.soundtoll.nl)

- South-Sweden Probate Inventory Database, 1570-1860 (https://www.lusem.lu.se/organisation/department-economic-history/researchdepartment-economic-history/databases-department-economic-history/economichistory-data)
- Supplikregister, *Riksarkivet; Digitala Forskarsalen* (<u>https://sok.riksarkivet.se/amnesomrade?infosida=amnesomrade-suppliker</u>) (accessed 2024-04-19)
- Tabellverket på Nätet, Umeå Universitet (<u>Tabellverket på nätet (umu.se)</u>), (accessed 2024-09-19)

Unprinted sources

- Länsstyrelsen i Örebro län, Skrivelser från enskilda personer och menigheter, SE/ULA/11040/3/D III/2 (1719-1720)
- Malmö Stads Tolags- och bropenningsspecialer. Borgerskapet i Malmö, SE/MSA/00046/GIVa:30-67

Printed Sources

Sveriges Rikes Lag, Gillad och antagen på Riksdagen åhr 1734.

Bibliography

- Adamson, Glenn (2009). "The case of the missing footstool" in Harvey, Karen [ed.], *History and Material Culture, A Student's Guide to Approaching Alternative Sources*. Routledge: London.
- af Forsell, Carl. 1824. Beskrivning öfver Halmstads län eller Halland. Stockholm.

af Forsell, Carl. 1834. Socken-statistik öfver Swerige. Stockholm.

- Ågren, Maria. 2017. 'Introduction: Making a Living, Making a Difference' in Maria Ågren (ed.), *Making a Living, Making a Difference: Gender and Work in Early Modern European Society*, 1-23. Oxford Scholarship Online.
- Ågren, Maria. 2023. "Households" in Macleod, Catriona, Alexandra Shepard, & Maria Ågren (eds.) *The Whole Economy: Work and Gender in Early Modern Europe*, 26-52. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ahlberger, Christer. 1996. Konsumtionsrevolutionen. I: Om det moderna konsumtionssamhällets framväxt 1750–1900. Humanistiska fakulteten, Göteborgs universitet
- Allen, Robert C. 1992. Enclosure and the Yeoman: The Agricultural Development of the South Midlands 1450-1850. Oxford Scholarship Online.
- Allen, R.C. & J. L. Weisdorf. 2011. "Was there an 'industrious revolution' before the industrial revolution? An empirical exercise for England c. 1300-1830." *The Economic History Review*, 64:3, 715-729
- Álvarez-Nogal, C. and L. Prados de la Escosura. 2013. "The Rise and Fall of Spain (1270-1850)," *Economic History Review*, 66, 1, 1-37
- Andersson, Eva I. 2017. "Swedish Burgher's Dress in the Seventeenth Century". *Costume*, 51
- Anderson, Eva I (2019). "Dangerous Fashions in Swedish Sumptuary Law" in Riello, Giorgio & Ulinka Rublack (eds), *The Right to Dress: Sumptuary Laws in a Global Perspective c. 1200-1800*, 143-164
- Andersson, Gudrun. 2006. "A Mirror of Oneself: Possessions and the Manifestation of Status among a Local Swedish Elite, 1650–1770." *Cultural and Social History*, 3:1, 21-44
- Andersson, Gudrun. 2009. Stadens dignitärer: den lokala elitens status och maktmanifestation i Arboga 1650–1770. Stockholm: Atlantis
- Annerstedt, Lars. 1995. "Om Falkenbergs hamn" in Stig J. Hedén [ed] Falkenberg, staden som hembygd. Bidrag till Falkenbergs Historia, en jubileumsskrift utgiven av Falkenbergs Kultur- och Hembygdsföreningen. Falkenberg.
- Arkell, Tom, Nesta Evans, & Nigel Goose (eds.) 2000) When Death Do Us Part: Understanding and Interpreting the Probate Records of Early Modern England. Oxford: Leopard's Head Press.
- Bateman, Victoria N. 2016. "Markets and Growth in Early Modern Europe." Perspectives in Economic and Social History, nr. 20. Routledge.
- Béaur, Gérard. 2021. "Niveles de vida, revolución por objetos y revolución industriosa en la Europa moderna: verdades y fantasmas. Meaux y su campiña (Región de Brie), siglos XVII y XVIII." *Mundo Agrario*, 22:49
- Becker, Gary S. 1965. "A Theory of the Allocation of Time." *Economic Journal*, 75, 493-517
- Becket, John & Catherine Smith. 2000. "Urban renaissance and consumer revolution in Nottingham, 1688-1750." Urban History, 27, 31-50

- Bedell, J. 2000 "Archaeology and probate inventories in the study of eighteenth-century life." *Journal of Interdisciplinary History*, 31:2, 223-225
- Bengtsson, Erik & Patrick Svensson. 2020. The living standards of the labouring classes in Sweden, 1750–1900: evidence from rural probate inventories
- Bengtsson, Erik, Mats Olsson, & Patrick Svensson. 2022. "Mercantilist inequality: wealth and poverty in Stockholm, 1650-1750." *The Economic History Review*, 75:1, 157-180.
- Berg, Maxine. 1985. The Age of Manufactures 1700-1820. London: Fontana Press.
- Bergenfeldt, Fredrik (2014). Roads to Market. Transport and Agricultural Change the case of southern Sweden, 1750-1850. Lund Studies in Economic History 66: Lund.
- Bexell, Rolf G. 1929. "Ett gammalt document från Falkenberg. Glimtar från näringslifvet i staden för 200 år sedan" in Erik Salvén & Albert Anderson Sandklef [eds.] *Kulturhistoriska Studier och Uppteckningar. Hallands Hembygdsförbunds Skriftserie. I.*
- Blondé, Bruno and Ilja van Damme. 2010. "Retail growth and consumer changes in a declining urban economy: Antwerp (1650–1750)". *Economic History Review*, 63:3, 638–663.
- Blondé, Bruno, & Ilja Van Damme. 2019. "From consumer revolution to mass market" in Stobart, Jon, & Vicki Howard (eds.) *The Routledge companion to the history of retailing*. Taylor & Francis eBooks
- Bohman, Magnus. 2010. Bonden, bygden och bördigheten. Produktionsmönster och utvecklingsvägar under jordbruksomvandlingen i Skåne ca 1700–1870. Doctoral Dissertation. Lund: Media-Tryck
- Böök, Martina. 2023. Traditionella nyheter: Kläder, ekonomi och politik i Virestads socken 1750-1850. Möklinta: Gidlunds förlag
- Bovenkerk, Hennig & Christine Fertig. 2022. "Consumer revolution in north-western Germany: Material culture, global goods, and proto-industry in rural households in the seventeenth to nineteenth centuries." *The Economic History Review*
- Bovenkerk, Henning. 2024. Consumptie en materiële cultuur van rurale huishoudens in Westfalen, eind van de 16de tot begin van de 19de eeuw. Doctoral Dissertation.
- Braudel, Fernand. 1986. *Marknadens Spel. Civilisationer och kapitalism 1400-1800. Band* 2. Gidlunds Böcker: Stockholm.
- Brewer, John & Roy Porter (eds.). 1993. *Consumption and the World of Goods*. London: Routledge.
- Bringéus, Nils-Arvid. 1977. *Bouppteckningar som etnologisk källa*. Bröderna Ekstrands tryckeri: Lund.
- Brismarck, Anna & Pia Lundqvist. 2010. "Före lanthandelns tid? Förutsättningarna för och förekomsten av handel på den svenska landsbygden föra 1846" in Andersson, Gudrun & Klas Nyberg (eds.) Kommers. Historiska handelsformer i Norden under 1700- och 1800-talen. Opuscula Historica Upsaliensia 42. Uppsala: Swedish Science Press.
- Broadberry, S.N., B. Campbell, A. Klein, M. Overton and B. van Leeuwen. 2015. *British Economic Growth 1270-1870*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Broberg, Gunnar, Ulla Wikander, & Klas Åmark (eds.). 1993. *Tänka, tycka, tro. Svensk historia underifrån*. Stockholm: Ordfronts Förslag.
- Brown, Carolina. 2020. *Den bekväma vardagen: kvinnor kring bord på 1700-talets Näs.* Stockholm.
- Burke, Peter. "Res et verba: conspicuous consumption in the early modern world", in Brewer, John & Roy Porter (eds.) *Consumption and the World of Goods*, 148-161. London: Routledge.
- Campbell, Åke (1928). Skånska bygder under förra hälften av 1700-talet: Etnografisk studie över den Skånska allmogens äldre odlingar, hägnade och byggnader. A.B. Lundequistska Bokhandeln: Uppsala.
- Carr, Lois Green & Russel R. Menard. 1999. "Wealth and Welfare in Early Maryland: Evidence from St. Mary's County." *The William and Mary Quarterly*, 56:1, 95–120.
- Charles, Loïc & Guillaume Daudin. 2018. "Cross-checking STRO with the French Balance du Commerce Data." in Veluwenkamp, Jan Willelm & Werner Scheltjens (eds). 2018. Early Modern Shipping and Trade. Leiden, The Netherlands: Brill.
- Chilosi, D., & Ciccarelli, C. 2023. *Italy in the Great Divergence: What Can We Learn from Engel's Law* (SSRN Scholarly Paper 4514091).
- Congost, R., R. Ros and E. Saguer. 2023. "More industrious and less austere than expected: evidence from inventories of agricultural workers in north-eastern Catalonia (1725–1807)." *Rural History*, 34:2, 278–299.
- Crowley, John E. 2001. *The Invention of comfort sensibilities & design in early modern Britain & early America*. Baltimore, Md.: Johns Hopkins University Press
- Crucini, Mario J. & Gregor W. Smith. 2014. "Geographic barriers to commodity price integration: Evidence from US cities and Swedish towns, 1732-1860." *NBER Working Paper Series*.
- de Vries, Jan. 1993. "Between Purchasing Power and the World of Goods. Understanding the Household Economy in Early Modern Europe" in Brewer, John & Roy Porter (eds.) *Consumption and the World of Goods*. London: Routledge.
- de Vries, Jan. 1994. "The Industrial Revolution and the Industrious Revolution." *The Journal of Economic History*, Vol. 54:2, 249-270
- De Vries, Jan, and A. M. van der Woude. 1997. *The First Modern Economy. Success, Failure, and Perseverance of the Dutch Economy, 1500-1815.* Cambridge University Press.
- de Vries, Jan. 2008. The Industrious Revolution: Consumer Behaviour and the Household Economy, 1650 to the Present. Cambridge University Press.
- Di Matteo, Livio. 1997. "The Determinants of Wealth and Asset Holding in Nineteenth-Century Canada: Evidence from Microdata." *The Journal of Economic History*, 57:4, 907-934
- Dow, James. 1964. "A comparative note on the Sound Toll Registers, Stockholm customs account, and Dundee shipping lists, 1589, 1613-1622." *Scandinavian Economic History Review*, 12:1, 79-85

- Dribe, Martin & Bart van de Putte. 2012. "Marriage seasonality and the industrious revolution: southern Sweden , 1690-1895." *Economic History Review*, 65:3; 1123-1146
- Edvinsson, Rodney. 2009. "Swedish Harvests, 1665–1820: Early Modern Growth in the Periphery of European Economy." *Scandinavian Economic History Review*, 57:1, 2-25.
- Edvinsson, Rodney. 2013. "Swedish GDP 1620–1800: stagnation or growth?". *Cliometrica*, 7, 37–60.
- Edvinsson, Rodney & Johan Söderberg. 2010. "The evolution of Swedish consumer prices 1290–2008", in Edvinsson, Rodney, Tor Jacobsson, & Daniel Waldenström (eds.)
 Historical Monetary and Financial Statistics for Sweden, Volume I: Exchange rates, prices, and wages, 1277–2008. Sveriges Riksbank and Ekerlids.
- Edvinsson, Rodney & Christoffer Tarek Gad. 2018. "Assessing trade in the mercantilist era: evidence from a new database on foreign trade of Sweden – Finland, 1738-1805." *Scandinavian Economic History Review*, 66:3, 226-245
- Engberg, Elisabeth. 2005. *I fattiga omständigheter. Fattigvårdens former och understödstagare i Skellefteå Socken under 1800-talet*. Umeå: Reports from the Demographic Data Base 25.
- Epstein, S. R. 2001. "Introduction. Town and Country in Europe, 1300-1800" in Epstein, S. R. (ed.) *Town and Country in Europe, 1300-1800*. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Finlay, Robert. 1998. "The Pilgrim Art: The Culture of Porcelain in World History." Journal of World History, 9:2, 141-187
- Fairchilds, Cissie. 1993. "The production and marketing of populuxe goods in eighteenthcentury Paris" in Brewer, John & Roy Porter (eds.) *Consumption and the World of Goods*. London: Routledge.
- Gadd, Carl-Johan. 1983. Järn och potatis. Jordbruk, teknik och social omvandling i Skaraborgs län 1750-1860. Göteborg.
- Gadd, Carl-Johan. 2000. Det Svenska Jordbrukets Historia, Bd3. Den Agrara Revolutionen: 1700-1870. Stockholm: Natur och Kultur/LTs förlag.
- Gadd, Carl-Johan. 2011. "The agricultural revolution in Sweden, 1700-1870" in Myrdal, Janken & Mats Morell (eds.) *The Agrarian History of Sweden, 4000 BC to AD 2000*. Lund: Nordic Academic Press: 118-164
- Gallagher, Nathan. 2016. "A methodology for estimating the volume of Baltic timber to Spain using the Sound Toll Registers: 1670-1806." *International Journal of Maritime History*, 28:4, 752-773 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0843871416661682</u>
- Gary, Kathryn E. 2018. Work, Wages and Income. Renumeration and Labor Patterns in Sweden 1500-1850. Doctoral Dissertation. Lund: Lund University.
- Gary, Kathryn E. & Mats Olsson. 2020. "Men at work. Wages and industriousness in southern Sweden 1500-1850." Scandinavian Economic History Review 68 (2): 112-128
- Gøbel, Erik. 2010. "The Sound Toll Registers Online Project, 1497-1857." *International Journal of Maritime History* XXII:2, 305-324.

- Goldstone, J.A. 1986. "The Demographic Revolution in England: a Re-examination." Journal of Demography, 40:1, 5-33
- Green Carr, Lois & Lorena S. Walsh. 1994. "Changing Lifestyles and Consumer Behaviour in the Colonial Chesapeake" in Carson, Cary, Ronald Hoffman, & Peter J. Albert (eds.). Of Consuming Interests. The Style of Life in the Eighteenth Century. The University Press of Virginia.
- Green Carr, Lois & Russel R. Menard (1999). "Wealth and Welfare in Early Maryland: Evidence from St. Mary's County." *The William and Mary Quarterly*, 56:1, The Economy of British North America, pp. 95-120
- Gullickson, Gay L. 1986. Spinners and Weavers of Auffay. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Gustavsson, Tomas. 1995. "1754 års falkenbergskarta och Johan Söderling" in Stig J. Hedén (ed.) Falkenberg, staden som hembygd. Bidrag till Falkenbergs Historia, en jubileumsskrift utgiven av Falkenbergs Kultur- och Hembygdsföreningen. Falkenberg.
- Hajnal J. 1965. "European Marriage Patterns in Perspective" in Glass D. V. & D. E. C. Eversley (eds.) *Population in History. Essays in Historical Demography*. London: Edvard Arnold (Publishers) Ltd.
- Hallén, Per. 2003. Järnets Tid. Den svenska landsbygdsbefolkningens järninnehav och järnkonsumtion 1750-1870. Doctoral Dissertation. Gothenburg: Gothenburg University.
- Hallén, Per. 2009. Överflöd eller livets nödtorft. Materiell levnadsstandard i Sverige 1750-1900 i jämförelse med Frankrike, Kanada och Storbritannien. Göteborg: Preindustrial Research Group.
- Hanson Jones, Alice. 1982. "Estimating Wealth of the Living from a Probate Sample." *The Journal of Interdisciplinary History*, 13:2, 273-300.
- Hanssen, Börje. 1952. Österlen: En socialantropologisk studie. LTs Förlag: Ystad.
- Hatcher, John. 1998. "Leisure and Economic Though before the Nineteenth Century." Past & Present, 160, 64-115
- Heckscher, Eli F. 1936. Sveriges Ekonomiska Historia, Från Gustav Vasa I:2. Albert Bonniers Förlag: Stockholm.
- Heckscher, Eli F. 1949. Sveriges Ekonomiska Historia, Från Gustav Vasa II:2. Albert Bonniers Förlag: Stockholm.
- Hellsing, My & Johanna Ilmakunnas. 2023. "Shopping, vardagslivets prisma" in Hellsing, My & Johanna Ilmakunnas (eds.) Shopping i Stockholm. Sociala praktiker på gatunivå, 1700-1850. Stockholmia – forskning och förlag: Stockholm.
- Horrell, Sara, Jane Humphries, & Jacob Weisdorf (2021). "Beyond the male breadwinner: Life-cycle living standards of intact and disrupted English working families, 1260-1850". The Economic History Review, 2022;75: 530-560.
- Humphries, Jane. 2024. "Respectable standards of living: The alternative lens of maintenance costs, Britain 1270-1860." *The Economic History Review*, DOI: 10.1111/ehr.13357

- Hutchison, Ragnhild. 2014. "An Industrious Revolution in Norway? A Norwegian road to the modern market economy?" *Scandinavian Journal of History*, 39:1, 4–26.
- Isacson, Maths. 1979. Ekonomisk tillväxt och social differentiering 1680-1860. Bondeklassen i By socken, Kopparbergs län. Uppsala Studies in Economic History 18: Uppsala.
- Jervis, Ben. 2017. "Consumption and the 'Social Self' in Medieval Southern England." Norwegian Archaeological Review, 50:1, 1-29
- Johansson, Per Göran. 2001. Gods, kvinnor och stickning: tidigindustriell verksamhet i Höks härad i södra Halland ca 1750-1870. Doctoral Dissertation. Lund: Lund University.
- Jónsson, Már. 2016. "Securing inheritance: Probate proceedings in the Nordic countries, 1600-1800." *Sjuttonhundratal: Nordic Journal for Eighteenth-Century Studies*, vol. 13, 7-30. http://dx.doi.org/10.7557/4.3871
- Jörberg, Lennart. 1972. A history of prices in Sweden 1732-1914, Volume One. CWK Gleerup: Lund.
- Keibek, S.A.J. & L. Shaw-Taylor (2013). "Early modern rural by-employments." Agricultural History Review, 61:2, 244-281
- Knutsson, Anna & Hanna Hodacs. 2021. "When coffee was banned: strategies of labour and leisure among Stockholm's poor women, 1794-1796 and 1799-1802." *Scandinavian Economic History Review*, 71: 176-198
- Kraft, Solomon & Oscar Bjurling. 1956. *Ystads Historia, Del 1*. Ystad: Tryckeri AB Aurora.
- Kuuse, Jan. (1974) "The probate inventory as a source for economic and social history." *Scandinavian Economic History Review*, 22:1, 22-31
- Lennersand, Marie, Jan Mispelaere, Christopher Pihl, & Maria Ågren. 2017. "Gender, Work, and the Fiscal-Military State" in Ågren, Maria (ed), *Making a Living, Making a Difference: Gender and Work in Early Modern European Society*, 178-203. Oxford Scholarship Online.
- Lilja, Kristina & Dan Bäcklund. 2013a. "To navigate the family economy over a lifetime: life-cycle squeezes in pre-industrial Swedish towns." European Review of Economic History, 17, 171-189
- Lilja, Kristina & Dan Bäcklund. 2013b. "To depend on one's children or to depend on oneself: savings for old-age and children's impact on wealth." The History of the Family, 18:4, 510-532.
- Lilja, Sven. 1994. "The geography of urbanization Sweden and Finland, c. 1570–1770". *Scandinavian Economic History Review*, 42:3, 235-256.
- Lindberg, Erik, Benny Jacobsson, & Sofia Ling. 2017. "The Dark Side of the Ubiquity of Work, Vulnerability and Destitution among the Elderly." in Ågren, Maria (ed), Making a Living, Making a Difference: Gender and Work in Early Modern European Society, 159-177. Oxford Scholarship Online.
- Linde, Martin. "Sverige 1750. Åkerbruk, boskapsskötsel, befolkning." Rapport för Vetenskapsrådets projekt Databasen Sverige 1570-1805: befolkning, jordbruk, jordägande. Göteborg: Göteborgs Universitet.

- Lindert, Peter H. 1981. "An Algorithm for Probate Sampling." *Journal of Interdisciplinary History*, XI:4, 649-668
- Lindgren, Håkan. 2002. "The Modernization of Swedish Credit Markets, 1840-1905: Evidence from Probate Records." *The Journal of Economic History*, 62:3, 810-832
- Lindström, Dag, Rosemarie Fiebranz, Jonas Lindström, Jan Mispelaere, & Göran Rydén. 2017. "Working Together" in Ågren, Maria (ed.), *Making a Living, Making a Difference: Gender and Work in Early Modern European Society*, 57-77. Oxford Scholarship Online.
- Lindström, Dag (2020). "Families and Households, Tenants and Lodgers: Cohabitation in an Early Modern Swedish Town, Linköping 1750-1800" in *Journal of Family History* 2020, Vol. 45:2, 228-249
- Lindström, Jonas (2008). Distribution and Differences: Stratification and the System of Reproduction in a Swedish Peasant Community 1620-1820. Studia Historica Upsaliensia 235: Uppsala.
- Lindström, Jonas & Jan Mispelaere (2015). "Vad fick 1600-talets arbetare i lön?" *Historisk Tidskrift*, 135:3, 432-463
- Lindström, Jonas & Jan Mispelaere (2016). "Interdependent living: labouring families and the Swedish mining industry in the late seventeenth century." *The History of the Family*, 22:1, pp. 136-155
- Lindström, Jonas, Rosemarie Fiebranz, & Göran Rydén. 2017. "The Diversity of Work" in Ågren, Maria (ed.), *Making a Living, Making a Difference: Gender and Work in Early Modern European Society*, 24-56. Oxford Scholarship Online.
- Lindström, Jonas, Karin Hassan Jansson, Rosemarie Fiebranz, Benny Jacobsson, & Maria Ågren. 2017. "Mistress or maid: the structure of women's work in Sweden, 1550–1800". *Continuity and Change*, 32:2, 225–252.
- Lindström, Jonas (2017). Vad gjorde de obesuttna? En verbinriktad studie av några västmanländska 1600-talskällor med stöd av databasen GaW. (accessed through <u>https://www.uu.se/forskning/gender-and-work/forskning/publikationer</u>, 25-09-2024)
- Lindström, Jonas (2018). "Labouring poor in early modern Sweden?", *Scandinavian Journal of History*, 44:4. 403-429
- Lundh, Christer. 1997. "The World of Hajnal Revisited: Marriage Patterns in Sweden 1650-1990." Lund Papers in Economic History, No. 60.
- Lundqvist, Pia. 2008. *Marknad på väg. Den Västgötska gårdfarihandeln 1790-1864*. Avhandlingar från Historiska institutionen i Göteborg nr 52: Göteborg.
- Magnusson, Lars. 2000. An Economic History of Sweden. Routledge.
- Malanima, Paolo & Valeria Pinchera. 2012. "A Puzzling Relationship, Consumption and Incomes in Early Modern Europe". *Historie & mesure*, XXVII-2, 197-222
- Malinowski, M. and Van Zanden. 2017. "Income and its distribution in preindustrial Poland in a global perspective" *Cliometrica*, 11:3, 375–404.
- Markkanen, Erkki. (1978) "The use of probate inventories as indicators of personal wealth during the period of industrialization: The financial resources of the Finnish rural population 1850-1911." *Scandinavian Economic History Review 26 (1)*: 66-83

- Mas-Ferrer, Josep. 2020. "Pautes de consum i condicions de vida dels treballadors de la terra a partir dels inventaris post mortem a Catalunya: el cas de la Selva (1750-1805)" *Estudis D'Històrua Agrària*, 32: 69-96.
- Mas-Ferrer, Josep. 2023a. "Les desigualtats socials a la Catalunya preindustrial. L'estudi de cas de la Selva Interior, c.1750-1825." Doctoral Dissertation: University of Girona
- Mas-Ferrer, Josep. 2023b. Forks and napkins on poor tables. Production and consumption in humble rural households at the end of the Ancien Régime (north-eastern Catalonia, 1750-1807. Working paper presented at the Social Science History conference, 2023.
- McCants, A. 2008. "Poor consumers as global consumers". *Economic History Review*, 61:1, 172-200
- McKendrick, Neil, John Brewer, & J. H. Plumb. 1982. *The Birth of a Consumer Society. The Commercialization of Eighteenth-Century England*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Morell, Mats. 2001. Det Svenska jordbrukets historia, Bd 4. Jordbruket i industrisamhället. Stockholm: Natur och Kultur/Lys förlag.
- Muldrew, Craig. 2011. Food, Energy and the Creation of Industriousness. Work and Material Culture in Agrarian England, 1550-1780. Cambridge University Press.
- Müller, Leos. 1998. The merchant houses of Stockholm, c. 1640-1800 : a comparative study of early-modern entrepreneurial behaviour. Uppsala: Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis.
- Murhem, Sofia, Göran Ulväng, & Kristina Lilja. 2010. "Tables and Chair Under the Hammer: Second-Hand Consumption of Furniture in the Eighteenth and Nineteenth Centuries in Sweden" in Stobart, Jon & Ilja Van Damme [eds.]. 2010. *Modernity and the Second-hand Trade: European Consumption Cultures and Practices, 1700-1900.* Palgrave Macmillan: London.
- Murhem, Sofia, Göran Ulväng, & Kristina Lilja. 2013. Den glömda konsumtionen: Auktionshandel i Sverige under 1700- och 1800-talen. Möklinta: Gidlunds förlag.
- Myrdal, Janken. 1999. Det Svenska jordbrukets historia, Bd 2. Jordbruket under feodalismen: 1000-1700. Stockholm: Natur och Kultur/Lys förlag.
- Nilsson, Pia, Martin Hansson, & Eva Svensson. 2020. De obesuttnas arkeologi människor, metoder och möjligheter. Visby: Riksantikvarieämbetet.
- Ogilvie, Sheilagh. 2003. A Bitter Living: A Bitter Living: Women, Markets, and Social Capital in Early Modern Germany. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Ogilvie, Sheilagh. 2010. "Consumption, Social Capital, and the 'Industrious Revolution' in Early Modern Germany." *The Journal of Economic History*, Vol 70:2, 287-325
- Olsson, Lovisa. 2023. I vinst och förlust: Köpmäns nätverk i 1500-talets Östersjöstäder. Doctoral dissertation in History, Södertörn University College.
- Olsson, Mats & Patrick Svensson. 2010. "Agricultural growth and institutions: Sweden, 1700-1860." *European Review of Economic History*, Augusti 2010, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 275-304

- Osberg, Lars & Fazley Siddiq. 1988. "The Inequality of Wealth in Britain's North American Colonies: The Importance of the Relatively Poor." *Review of Income and Wealth*, 34:2, 143-163
- Overton, Mark, Jane Whittle, Darron Dean and Andrew Hann. 2004. *Production and Consumption in English Households, 1600–1750*. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Persson, Anders. 2002. "Levnadsvillkoren vid sydskånska gatehus under 1700-talet" in Lundh, Christer & Kerstin Sundberg (eds.) *Gatehus och gatehusfolk i skånska godsmiljöer*. Lund: Nordic Academic Press.
- Pfister, Ulrich. 2022. "Economic Growth in Germany, 1500–1850." *The Journal of Economic History*, 82:4, 1071–1107
- Pihl, Christopher. 2011. "Arbete och hushåll" in Jacobsson, Benny & Maria Ågren (eds) Levebröd: Vad vet vi om tidigmodern könsarbetsdelning?, 35-58. Uppsala: Swedish Science Press.
- Pounds, N. J. G. 1979. *An historical geography of Europe 1500–1840*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Prados de la Escosura, L. 2017. *Spanish Economic Growth, 1850-2015*. London: Palgrave Macmillan
- Prak, Maarten. 2023. *The Dutch Republic in the Seventeenth Century. Second Edition.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ridolfi, L., & Nuvolari, A. 2021. "L'histoire immobile? A reappraisal of French economic growth using the demand-side approach, 1280–1850." *European Review of Economic History*, 25:3, 405–428
- Roche, Daniel. 2000. A History of Everyday Things; The Birth of Consumption in France, 1600-1800. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Rönnbäck, Klas. 2010. "An Early Modern Consumer Revolution in the Baltic?" Scandinavian Journal of History, 35:2, 177-197
- Ronsijn, Wouter. 2013. "Mediated and unmediated market dependence in the Flemish countryside in the nineteenth century: two paths of rural development." *Continuity and Change*, 28:1, 89-120
- Rosander, Göran. 1980. *Gårdfrihandel i Norden. En Översikt av en gammal handelsform.* LTs Förlag: Stockholm.
- Rosenband, Leonard N. 2016. "The Industrious Revolution: A Concept Too Many?" International Labor and Working-Class History, No 90, 213-243
- Rosenberg, Carl Martin. 1882-1883a. *Geografiskt-statistiskt handlexikon öfver Sverige*. *Förra bandet*: A-K. Stockholm: A.V. Carlsons Förlag.
- Rosenberg, Carl Martin. 1882-1883b. *Geografiskt-statistiskt handlexikon öfver Sverige*. *Senare bandet*: L-Ö. Stockholm: A.V. Carlsons Förlag.
- Runefelt, Leif. 2004. "Från yppighetens nytta till dygdens försvar den frihetstida debatten om lyx." *Historisk Tidskrift*, 124:2, 203-224
- Runefelt, Leif. 2015. Att hasta mot undergången: Anspråk, flyktighet, förställning i debatten om konsumtion i Sverige 1730–1830. Lund: Nordic Academic Press.
- Ryckbosch, Wouter. 2015. "Early Modern Consumption History: Current Challenges and Future Perspectives." *BMGN Low Countries Historical Review*, 130:1, 57-84

- Sandberg, Robert. 2001. "Town and Country in Sweden, 1450-1650", pp. 30-53 in Epstein, S. R. (ed.) Town and Country in Europe, 1300-1800. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge
- Sandström, Åke. 1996. *Plöjande borgare och handlande bönder. Mötet mellan den europeiska urbana ekonomin och vasatidens Sverige*. Stockholm: Stads- och kommunhistoriska institutet.
- SCB. 1969. Historisk statistik för Sverige Del 1. Befolkning 1720-1967. Andra upplagan.
- SCB. 1999. *Befolkningsutvecklingen under 250 år. Historisk Statistik för Sverige*. Demografiska rapporter 1999:2.
- Schön, Lennart and Olle Krantz. 2015. "New Swedish Historical National Accounts since the 16th Century in Constant and Current Prices" *Lund Papers in Economic History no.* 140
- Servais, Paul. 2014. "Material culture, quality of life and property regime in the countryside around Liège from the eighteenth to the nineteenth century" in Broad, John & Anton Schuurman (eds.) *Wealth and Poverty in European Rural Societies from the Sixteenth to the Nineteenth Century*, 181-198. Turnhout: Brepols,
- Shammas, Carole. 1990. The Pre-Industrial Consumer. Oxford.
- Smith, Adam. 1776 (2005). An Inquiry into the Nature and Cause of The Wealth of Nations. An Electronic Classics Series publication.
- Smits, J.P., E. Horlings and J.L. van Zanden. 2000. The Measurement of Gross National Product and its Components 1800-1913. Groningen Growth and Development Centre Monograph series no 5.
- Sovelius, Nils. 1759. Nyttan som tillfaller en Province af en Deri anlagd Stapelstad. Åbo.
- Stobart, John & Ilja Van Damme. 2010. "Introduction. Modernity and the Second-Hand Trade: Themes, Topics and Debates." in Stobart, Jon & Ilja Van Damme [eds.].
 2010. Modernity and the Second-hand Trade: European Consumption Cultures and Practices, 1700-1900. Palgrave Macmillan: London.
- Stobart, John & Mark Rothery (2016). *Consumption and the Country House*. Oxford University Press.
- Stråle, G. H.. 1884. Alingsås Manufakturverk. Ett bidrag till den Svenska industrins historia under frihetstiden. Ivar Hæggströms boktryckeri: Stockholm.
- Svensk uppslagsbok. 1931. Malmö.
- Thomasson, Eskilander. 1858. *Historisk framställning av lagstiftningen om de svenska* städernas fördelning i Stapelstäder och Uppstäder. Berlingska Boktryckeriet: Lund.
- Tomner, Lennart. 1977. "Stadens historia 1500–1658" in Oscar Bjurling (ed.) *Malmö stads historia, del II*, 11-190. Malmö: Malmö stad.
- Ulväng, Marie. 2021. "Tea, coffee or printed cotton? Farm households' consumption of goods in Northern Sweden, 1760-1820." *History of Retailing and Consumption, 2021, Vol. 7, No. 2,* 137-161
- Van de Sompele, Wout. 2021. *Tussem landbouw en de markt. De rurale middenstand in Doel, 1614-1900.* Doctoral Dissertation. University of Antwerpen.

- van der Woude, A. M. & Schuurman, A. J. (eds.). 1980. Probate Inventories: A New Source for the Historical Study of Wealth, Material Culture and Agricultural Development. Leiden: Brill.
- van Koolbergen, Hans. 1983. "De materiële cultuur van Weesp en Weesperkarspel in de zeventiende en achttiende eeuw." *Volkskundig Bulletin*, 9, 3-52
- Van Nederveen Meerkerk, Elise. 2008. "Couples cooperating? Dutch textile workers, family labour and the 'industrious revolution', c. 1600–1800." *Continuity and Change*, 23:2, 237–266.
- Van Zanden, J..L. 2002. "The "Revolt of the Early Modernists" and the 'First Modern Economy': An Assessment". *Economic History Review*, 55:4, 619–641.
- Van Zanden, J. L. & van Leeuwen, B. 2012. 'Persistent but not consistent: the growth of national income in Holland 1347–1807.' *Explorations in Economic History*, 49, 119– 30
- Vardi, Liana. 1993. The Land and the Loom: Peasants and Profit in Northern France 1680-1800. Duke University Press: Durham & London.
- Veluwenkamp, Jan Willelm & Werner Scheltjens [eds.]. 2018. *Early Modern Shipping and Trade*. Leiden, The Netherlands: Brill.
- Vickery, Amanda. 2009. *Behind Closed Doors: at home in Georgian England*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Wallenstein, Immanuel. 1974. Capitalist Agriculture and the Origins of the European World-Economy in the Sixteenth Century. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Warde, Paul. 2006. "Subsistence and sales: the peasant economy of Württemberg in the early seventeenth century." *Economic History Review*, LIX:2, 289-319
- Warren Sabean, David. 1990. Property, Production, and Family in Neckarhausen, 1700-1870. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge
- Weatherill, Lorna. 1988. *Consumer behaviour and material culture in Britain 1660-1760*. London.
- Wiking Faria, Pablo. (2009) Freden, friköpen och järnplogarna. Drivkrafter och förändringsprocesser under den agrara revolutionen i Halland 1700-1900. Göteborg: Göteborgs Universitet.

LUND STUDIES IN ECONOMIC HISTORY

118	Falk, Marcus
	Wealth, Consumption, and Industriousness: Evidence from southern Sweden,
	1570–1860, 2025.
117	Cormack, Louise
	Growing up. Early-life circumstances and wellbeing throughout life, Sweden
	1905–2016, 2025.
116	Ternsjö, Linn
	Garment Workers and the Labour Issue in Development: The Case of Mauritius,
	2025.
115	Ford, Nicholas Martin
	Origins of the knowledge economy: Higher education and Scandinavia's
	development, ca. 1800–1929, 2025.
114	Melles, Bertus Markus
	Transforming Foundations: Structural Change and Development Dynamics in Sub-
	Saharan Africa (1960–2024), 2024.
113	Zhao, Liang
	International Capital Flow, Monetary Policy, and Banking Instability: Lessons from
	Sweden, 1877–1939, 2024.
112	Castillo, Marcos
	Roots Across the Atlantic: Social Networks and Economic Outcomes from the
	Swedish Mass Migration to the United States, 1880–1920, 2024.
111	Lukkari, Valeria
	<i>Economic disparities in colonial Kenya: income inequality and wage differentiation,</i>
110	2024.
110	Ostermeyer, Vinzent Leon
	<i>Why Firms Grow: The Roles of Institutions, Trade, and Technology during Swedish</i> <i>Industrialization,</i> 2023.
100	Bergvall, Martin
109	Untying the knot. Studies of the Swedish divorce transition, 1900–2020,
108	Dalman, Elien
100	Patterns of Persistence: Intergenerational mobility and Sweden's social structure
	1865–2015, 2022.
107	Labbas, Elisa
107	Squeezed in Midlife: Studies of unpaid caregiving among working-age men and
	women across Europe, 2022.
106	Miladinovic, Luka
	Us and Them: Economic Consequences of Ethno-confessional Diversity, 2022
105	Baumert, Nicolai
	For God's Sake – The Work and Long-Term Impact of Christian Missionaries in
	Cameroon 1844–2018, 2022.
104	Chanda Chiseni, Michael
	Here I am Send Me: The Historical and Long-Term Impact of Christian Missionaries
	in Zambia 1924–2018, 2022.
103	Johansson, Tony
	Sverige och den västeuropeiska arbetslösheten 1970–1990, 2021.
102	Gülsunar, Emrah
	The State, Parliamentary Legislation and Economic Policy during the Structural
	Transformation of British Economy, 1700–1850, 2021.

101	Klocke,Sascha
	Land, Labour, Legacies: Long-term Trends in Inequality and Living Standards in
	Tanzania, c. 1920–2020, 2021.
100	Önnerfors, Martin
	Water for the Many. Health, neighbourhood change and equality of access during
	the expansion of Swedish urban water networks, 2021.
99	Rohne Till, Emelie
//	Agriculture for Development in the 21st Century: Evidence from Ethiopia, 2021.
98	Serratos-Sotelo, Luis
90	Disease, Death and Displacement: The long-term effects of early-life conditions on
	income, education, and health in Sweden, 1937–2011, 2021.
07	Martins, Igor
97	
0.6	<i>Collateral Effect: Slavery and Wealth in the Cape Colony, 2020.</i>
96	Debiasi, Enrico
	The Historical Origins of the Mortality Gradient. Socioeconomic inequalities in
	adult mortality over two centuries in Sweden, 2020.
95	Fibæk Maria
	Rural Income Diversification, Employment, and Differentiation in Kenya and
	Implications for Rural Change, 2020
94	Aboagye, Prince Young
	Inequality and Uneven Development in Ghana, 2020.
93	Probst, Julius
	Growth, Factor Shares, and Factor Prices, 2019.
92	Kulionis, Viktoras
	Energy Embodied in Trade, 1970–2014, 2019.
91	Gary, Kathryn E.
-	Work, Wages and Income: Remuneration and Labor Patterns in Southern Sweden
	1500–1850, 2018.
90	Chen, Zeyuan
20	Getting Old in a Changing World: Sons, Pensions, and the Wellbeing of the
	Elderly in Contemporary China, 2018.
89	Jenkin, Samuel
07	Foreign Investment in Agricultural Development: The Past of the Present in Zambia,
	2018
00	Karlsson, Omar
88	
	Growth and Survival: Child Health Disparities and Early Life Adversity in Sub-
07	Saharan Africa, 2018
87	Lennard, Jason
	Economic Fluctuations in the United Kingdom, 1750–1938, 2018
86	Andersson, Jens
	State Capacity and Development in Francophone West Africa, 2018.
85	Aradhya, Siddartha
	Diversity of Legacy: The Experience of Immigrants and their Descendants in
	Sweden, 2018.
84	Elwert, Annika
	Will You Intermarry Me? Determinants and Consequences of Immigrant-Native
	Intermarriage in Contemporary Nordic Settings, 2018.
83	Lazuka, Volha
	Defeating Disease: Lasting Effects of Public Health and Medical Breakthroughs
	Between 1880 and 1945 on Health and Income in Sweden, 2017.
82	Sztern, Sylvia
	Russia on the Move: The Railroads and the Exodus from Compulsory Collectivism
	<i>1861–1914</i> , 2017.

81	Tegunimataka, Anna
	Trajectories of Integration: Naturalization, Intermarriage and Education in
	Denmark, 1980–2015, 2017
80	Zheng, Yannu
00	How Immigrants Invent: Evidence from Sweden, 2017
79	Nielsen, Hana
.,	Coal, commerce and communism: Empirical studies on energy history in the Czech
	Republic, 2017.
78	Berger, Thor
	Engines of Growth: Essays in Swedish Economic History, 2016.
77	Kenny, Seán
	Empirical Studies in Money and Debt in Northern Europe 1840–2015, 2016.
76	Neilson, Jeffrey
76	
	Converging Times: Parenthood, Time Allocation and the Gender Division of Labor
	in Sweden 1990–2010, 2016.
75	Qi, Haodong
	Live Longer, Work Longer? Evidence from Sweden's Ageing Population, 2016.
74	Lindström, Martin
	All that's mine I carry with me: Early life disease and adult health in Sweden during
	250 years, 2015.
73	Molitoris, Joseph
	Life and Death in the City: Demography and living standards during Stockholm's
	industrialization, 2015.
72	Eriksson, Björn
	Dynamic Decades: A micro perspective on late nineteenth century Sweden, 2015.
71	Persson, Mats R
	In good times and in bad: Immigrants, Self-employment and Social Insurance,
	2015.
70	Borowiecki, Karol Jan
	"Mournful and yet grand is the destiny of the artist." Some Economic History of
	Music Composers and their Creativity, 2015.
69	López Jerez, Montserrat
	Deltas Apart. Factor Endowments, Colonial Extraction and Pathways of Agricultural
	Development in Vietnam, 2014.
68	Xiao, Jing
	Entrepreneurial Dynamics and Acquisitions of New Technology-Based Firms,
	2014.
67	Taalbi, Josef
0.	Innovation as Creative Response. Determinants of Innovation in the Swedish
	Manufacturing Industry, 1970–2007, 2014.
66	Bergenfeldt, Fredrik
00	Roads to Market. Transport and Agricultural Change – the case of southern
	Sweden, 1750–1850, 2014.
65	Sjöö, Karolin
05	Innovation and Transformation in the Swedish Manufacturing Sector, 1970–2007,
	2014.
64	Lind, Daniel
64	Value Creation and Structural Change During the Third Industrial Revolution. The
(2)	Swedish Economy from a Vertical Perspective, 2014.
63	Silva, Ernesto
	Essays on Income and Fertility. Sweden 1968–2009, 2014.
62	Dekhtyar, Serhiy Early Life Origins of Health and Well Being in Medary Sweden, 2012
	Early Life Origins of Health and Well-Being in Modern Sweden, 2013.

61	Holmberg, Kajsa Behind the Counter. Female Inroads, Obstacles and Careers in the Swedish
	Commercial Bank Sector 1885–1937, 2013.
60	Palacio, Andrés
	Mind the Gap. Inequalities in Infant and Child Mortality: the Case of Colombia
-	1967–2010, 2013.
59	Quaranta, Luciana
	Scarred for life. How conditions in early life affect socioeconomic status, reproduction and mortality in southern Sweden, 1813–1968, 2013.
58	Hannemann, Tina
50	It Breaks a Man's Heart. Socioeconomic Differences in the Onset of Cardiovascular
	Disease in Contemporary Sweden, 2012.
57	Faran, Turaj S
	The Industrialization Process in the Chinese Mirror: Continuity and change in
	transition from collective agriculture to market economy in China, 2011.
56	Weisdorf, Jacob L.
	Malthusian Progress, 2011.
55	Håkansson, Peter
	Ungdomsarbetslösheten – om övergångsregimer, institutionell förändring och socialt
	<i>kapital</i> (Youth unemployment – transition regimes, institutional change and social capital), 2011.
54	Henriques, Sofia Teives
54	<i>Energy transitions, economic growth and structural change. Portugal in a long- run</i>
	comparative perspective, 2011.
53	Helgertz, Jonas
	Immigrant Careers – Why Country of Origin Matters, 2010
52	Bohman, Magnus
	Bonden, bygden och bördigheten. Produktionsmönster och utvecklingsvägar under
	<i>jordbruksomvandlingen i Skåne ca 1700–1870</i> (Peasants, production patterns and
	paths of development during the agricultural transformation in Southern Sweden (Scania) ca 1700–1870), 2010.
51	Waldenström, Daniel
51	Lifting All Boats? The Evolution of Income and Wealth Inequality over the Path of
	Development, 2009
50	Roubert, Carl-Johan
	Småländsk världsindustri - en studie om entreprenörer och kluster 1950–2002, 2009.
49	Örnberg, Lena
	Bondens val - System, samspel och stödjande strukturer under
	moderniseringsprocessen i norra Thailand (Farmer's Choice – Systems, interaction
	and supporting structures during the modernisation process in Northern Thailand), 2008.
48	Rönnqvist, Sofia
10	Från diversity management till mångfaldsplaner? Om mångfaldsidéns spridning i
	Sverige och Malmö (From Diversity Management to Diversity Plans? On the
	Spread of the Diversity Idea in Sweden and Malmö), 2008.
47	Karlsson, Tobias
	Downsizing: Personnel Reductions at the Swedish Tobacco Monopoly, 1915–1939,
10	2008.
46	Enflo, Kerstin Regional and Industrial Growth Patterns in 20th Century Western Europe, 2008.
45	Axelsson, Tobias
т	Peasants and Policymakers, Agricultural transformation in Java under Suharto,
	2008.

44	Gustafsson, Fredrik The Visible Delay Market Exilored Induction Delay and the Malaysian Delay Oil
	The Visible Palm: Market Failures, Industrial Policy and the Malaysian Palm Oil
	Industry, 2007.
43	Forsberg, Le Thanh
	Defining Strong Ownership: Institutional Determinants and Stakeholder Interests in
	Vietnamese Development Planning, 2007.
42	Andera, Jan
	Driving under the Influence – Strategic Trade Policy and Market Integration in the
	European Car Industry, 2007.
41	Krantz, Olle & Schön, Lennart
	Swedish Historical National Accounts 1800–2000, 2007.
40	Lundh Nilsson, Fay
	Lönande lärande. Teknologisk förändring, yrkesskicklighet och lön i svensk
	verkstadsindustri omkring 1900 (Profitable Learning – Technological Change, Skills
	and Wages in the Swedish Engineering Industry around 1900), 2007.
39	Abou-Zeinab, Ali
	Commercial Banking and Economic Development, The Lebanese Experience
	1856–1974, 2006.
38	Jönsson, Per Ingvar
	Chaebolföretagen – en"omöjlig" konfiguration i den sydkoreanska
	industrialiseringsprocessen (The Chaebol Conglomerate – An "Impossible"
	Configuration in the South Korean Industrialization Process), 2006
37	Josephson, Camilla
	Growth and Business Cycles – Swedish Manufacturing Industry 1952–2001, 2005.
36	Appelquist, Joakim
	Informationsteknik och organisatorisk förändring – Teknik, organization och
	produktivitet i svensk banksektor 1975–2003 (Information Technology and
	Organizational Change – Technology, Organization and Productivity in Swedish
	Banking Sector 1975–2003), 2005
35	Green, Erik
	Peasant production and limits to labour: Thyolo and Mzimba Districts in Malawi,
	mid-1930s to late-1970s, 2005.
34	Saarinen, Jani
	Innovations and Industrial Performance in Finland 1945–1998, 2005.
33	Lindgren, Mattias
	Does schooling make sense? A household perspective on the returns to schooling for
	self-employed, farmers and employees in Egypt, 2005.
32	Lundh, Christer, Jonas Olofsson, Lennart Schön & Lars Svensson (eds.)
	Wage Formation, Labour Market Institutions and Economic Transformation in
	Sweden 1860–2000, 2004.
31	Rytkönen, Paulina
	Fruits of Capitalism, Modernisation of Chilean Agriculture 1950–2000, 2004.
30	Johansson, Kent
	Child Mortality during the Demographic Transition. A Longitudinal Analysis of a
	Rural Population in Southern Sweden, 1766–1894, 2004.
29	Holmquist, Svante
	Kapitalbildning i svensk industri 1870–1930 (Capital Formation in Swedish Industry
	1870–1930), 2004.
28	Carlsson, Ellen
	To Have and to Hold: Continuity and change in property rights governing water
	resources among the Meru of Tanzania and the BaKgatla of Botswana; 1925–2000,
	2003.

27	Abdulsomad, Kamaruding
	Building technological capabilities of local auto parts firms under contrasting industrial policies: a comparative study of Malaysia and Thailand 1960–2000, 2003.
26	Bengtsson, Henrik Ålder och ekonomisk omvandling. Sveriges tillväxthistoria i ett demografiskt perspektiv, 1890–1995 (Age and Economic Transformation.Sweden's History of Economic Growth in a Demographic Perspective, 1890–1995), 2003.
25	Andersson, Martin Bending the Kuznets Curve – Wrenching and Levelling Forces during Agricultural Transformation in Taiwan and Chile, 2003. Sandal, Jan-U.
24	Jakten på Entreprenøren. Kan Joseph A. Schumpeters teori benyttes til å identifisere og differensiere entreprenører i det 21.århundrede? (In Search of the Entrepreneur. Can Joseph A. Schumpeter's theory be used to identify and differentiate between entrepreneurs in the 21st century), 2003.
23	Öberg, Klas Pharmacy Regulation in Sweden. A New Institutional Economic Perspective, 2003.
22	Stanfors, Maria Education, Labor Force Participation and Changing Fertility Patterns. A Study of Women and Socioeconomic change in Twentieth Century Sweden, 2003.
21	Klinthäll, Martin <i>Return Migration from Sweden 1968–1996</i> , 2003.
20	Olsson, Mats Storgodsdrift. Godsekonomi och arbetsorganisation i Skåne från dansk tid till mitten av 1800-talet (Manorial Economy and Corvée Labour in Early Modern Scania),
10	2002. Kondon Astrid
19	Kander, Astrid Economic growth, energy consumption and CO2 emissions in Sweden 1800–2000, 2002.
18	Rauhut, Daniel
17	<i>Fattigvård, socialbidrag och synen på fattigdom i Sverige 1918–1997</i> (Poor Relief, Social Assistance and the View on Poverty in Sweden 1918–1997), 2002 Schånberg, Ingela
17	Genus och utbildning. Ekonomisk-historiska studier i kvinnors utbildning ca 1870– 1970 (Gender and Education.Economic History Studies in Women's Education ca. 1870 to 1970), 2002.
16	Svensson, Patrick Agrara entreprenörer. Böndernas roll i omvandlingen av jordbruket i Skåne ca 1800–1870 (Agrarian Entrepreneurs. The Role of the Peasants in the Transformation of Agriculture in Scania, 1800–1870), 2001.
15	Bevelander, Pieter Immigrant Employment Integration and Structural Change in Sweden, 1970–1995, 2000.
14	Lobell, Håkan Växelkurspolitik och marknadsintegration. De utländska växelkurserna i Sverige 1834–1880 (Exchange Rate Policy and Market Integration. Foreign Exchange Rates
13	in Sweden 1834–1880), 2000. Dribe, Martin Leaving Home in a Peasant Society. Economic Fluctuations, Household Dynamics
12	and Youth Migration in Southern Sweden, 1829–1866, 2000. Thorburn, Thomas
11	Economic of Transport: the Swedish Case 1780–1980, 2000. Ankarloo, Daniel "Institutions", What Is In a Word? A Critique of the New Institutional Economics, 1999.

- 10 Iglesias, Edgar Welfare, Security and the Level of Fertility: A Global Analysis, 1985 and 1995, 1999.
- 9 Scott, Kirk The Immigrant Experience: Changing Employment and Income Patterns in Sweden, 1970–1993, 1999.
- 8 Siriprachai, Somboon
- Control and Rent-Seeking, The Role of the State in the Thai Cassava Industry, 1998
 Pei, Xiaolin
- The Institutional Root of China's Rural Industry and Gradual Reform, 1998.
- Olofsson, Jonas
 Arbetslöshetsfrågan i historisk belysning. En diskussion om arbetslöshet och social politik i Sverige 1830–1920 (The Unemployment Question in Historical Perspective. A Discussion on Unemployment and Social Policy in Sweden, 1830–1920), 1996
- Ahlström, Göran
 Technological Development and Industrial Exhibitions 1850–1914. Sweden in an International Perspective, 1995
- 4 Arlebäck, Sven Olof *Från ägarmakt under ansvar till företagsledarmakt upa. En studie över maktförskjutningen i tre svenska verkstadsaktiebolag* (The Transition of Power from Shareholders to Top-Management. A Study of Three Swedish Engineering Firms), 1995.
- 3 Staffansson, Jan-Åke Svenskt smör. Produktion, konsumtion och utrikeshandel 1861–1913 (Swedish Butter. Productivity, Consumption, and Foreign Trade, 1861–1913), 1995.
- 2 Bergström, Asta *Åtstramning och Expansion. Den ekonomiska politiken i Sverige 1971–1982* (Retrenchment and Expansion. Swedish Economic Policy 1971–1982), 1995.
- 1 Lundh, Christer (ed.) Population, Economy and Welfare. Scandinavian Population Studies, vol 10, 1995.
- 0 Ahlström, Göran Technological Development and Industrial Exhibitions 1850–1914. Sweden in an International Perspective, 1995.

Wealth, Consumption, and Industriousness

This dissertation utilizes a new dataset on the belongings of early modern households, gathered from southern Sweden, to map the development of wealth and material living standards over the course of the early modern period. Together, the four papers making up the main part of the dissertation depicts a significantly more economically dynamic early modern period – especially eighteenth century - than have been often assumed. These households, no matter their socio-economic position, greatly improved their material standards over the early modern period; they diversified their stock of household objects and furniture, acquired larger and more varied wardrobes, and greatly expanded their range of cooking and eating options through more cook- and dinnerware. At least on the countryside they did so through a diversification of incomes, especially through textile production. Not only did this allow them to complement income from other sources, such as agriculture, it likely connected them to wider market networks for manufactured goods. This allowed them to take advantage of the decreasing cost of these goods to greatly improve their material conditions, despite decreasing real wages and increased cost of living. The findings give tentative support to the presence of a Swedish early modern industrious revolution, albeit one driven by a combination of economic necessity and decreasing costs of manufactured goods, rather than a demand for novel colonial consumer objects.



Department of Economic History School of Economics and Management

Lund Studies in Economic History 118 ISBN 978-91-989642-0-2 ISSN 1400-4860

